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Gwich’in Tribal Council

Guwich'in land, culture & economy for a better future

Message from the President
Sha Gwich'in Kut,

Greetings everyone! The past year has been one of transition and challenge. It cannot be said strongly
enough how much the global financial downturn has affected all areas of the economy. Everywhere
around us, Leaders are placed in a position to make difficult decisions due to the reduction in financial
resources,

The Gwich’in Tribal Council has also been affected by the global recession; we too must examine and
make adjustments accordingly to operate within our fiscal capacity, yet maintain the same level of
program and service delivery. We have been monitoring the global financial crisis and monitoring the
impacts to our investments, as well how this impacts large scale development projects in the Gwich’in
Settlement Area. It is important to note the Gwich’in Tribal Council includes the DGO's, RRC’s and any
other Gwich’in funded organization. We all have to examine how we can reduce our expenditures in a
responsible way, for example, maintaining our human resource capacity.

The 2008-09 operating year has seen a change in leadership, both in the style and manner but also in
how we conduct our business as an organization. More responsibility and accountability has been
delegated to senior staff and where appropriate and acceptable, to the Designated Gwich'in
Organizations. If you, our participants want us to move forward, we must do so in a time fashion with
full support from the communities. Therefore the communities must also support and encourage their
Leaders to work together with the objective of moving the Gwich’in Agenda forward in a unified fashion.

The Gwich'in Tribal Council, including the DGO's, RRC's and Gwich'in organizations must collaborate and
cooperate on large project initiatives and undertake activities where these projects or initiatives make
sense working together for the benefit of the Gwich’in Nation and future generations. We must realize
that we are no longer protected by our geographical location; current technology means that everyone
in the world can view our activities.

The 2009-2010 operating year will be a year of transformation. This transformation will require hard
choices and decisions by the Executive, with the advice and support of the Directors of the Gwich’in
Tribal Council. This transformation will require the Gwich'in Tribal Council to restructure and reorganize
s0 that we improve our ability to be proactive in our role as the central governing body of the Gwich’in
Nation.

We will continue to work with the Gwich’in Leaders of our communities and staff, and we seek their
loyalty and support so that we can work on behalf of the participants, with the communities and deliver
higher quality programs and services. The Gwich’in Nation deserves the best efforts of the Gwich'in
leaders and as such they will get the best efforts from me and the staff of the Gwich'in Tribal Council.
The effort must be given in an environment of support and respect, not through daily battles to get our

work and tasks completed.
Tel: (867) 777-7900 » Fax: (867) 777-7919
Chief Jim Koe Zheh, 1-3 Council Crescent, PO Box 1509, Inuvik NT Canada X0E 0T0
Website: www.gwichin.nt.ca



Progress has been made in the following areas:

The GTC continues to carefully monitor our investments to ensure that we are proactive and mitigate
foreseeable investment decisions, despite the negative impacts of the financial markets over the past
year.

Pursing new infrastructure projects which will support our economy; and will result in employment and
business opportunities for Gwich'in participants.

Building relationships and networks is an important part of doing business for our region, working
effectively with all levels of governments and other organizations to advance the Gwich’in agenda,
whether it is regarding our land claims implementation or the international issues of global warming, we
recognize the importance of building alliances in these areas and continue to participate in many forums
that support our needs. Some of our activities for this past year are:

» Meeting with the Prime Minister of Canada, the Right Honorable Steven Harper, MP, PC,
Minister of Indian and Northern Affairs, Honorable Chuck Strahl, MP, PC, Minister of
Environment Honorable Jim Prentice.

» Meetings with Northern Leaders including Premier Floyd Roland, NWT Cabinet members, and
MLA's.

» Meeting with Northern Aboriginal Leaders including the Dene Nation, CYFN, Nacho Nyak Dun
First Nation, Vuntut Gwich’in, Trondek Hwechen, Leaders of the Land Claims Agreements
Coalition.

> Meeting with Gwich'in business partners in the North and in Southern Canada, pursuing new
business opportunities in Yukon, BC and Alberta.

> Assigned Executive portfolios between the President and the Vice-President to ensure shared
responsibility and allow for gaining of experience in all areas of the Gwich'in Triba! Council.

Capacity building has always been an issue for the Gwich’in Tribal Council and we continue to support
the communities, DGO's and our staff to build capacity and develop a skilled workforce. We must
support those staff, which choose to broaden their horizons by seeking new opportunities to further
develop their careers and welcome new staff that provide fresh new ideas and direction and at the same
time continue to recognize those staff that remain with us, through the ups and downs, keeping the
organization moving forward despite challenging times.

> We are pleased to welcome: Holly Norris, Director of Gwich'in Services, Donald Andre, Director
of Lands, Resources and Implementation, Patricia McKinnon, Regional Manager of Education
and Training, Delmer Rinas, information Technology Technician, and Angela Horbatch, Senior
Financial Officer, and Karen Mitchell, Residential School Support Worker.



As we move forward and due to the economic recession, we as an organization must examine ways to
operate more efficiently and effectively, our future goals include:

» Putting forward ideas for new policies that will guide the decisions making in the Gwich'in Tribal
Council in the Gwich'in Settlement Area.

> Develop a new strategic direction; examine our organizational structure so that it fits with our
newly developed strategic plan and the resources available.

> Reorganizing our office systems and processes so that we operate effectively.

» Continue to build on the momentum of networks and good relations with other governmental
organizations (Aboriginal included).

> Continue to promote and develop our governing systems within the Gwich’in Tribal Council and
its affiliates so that we can respond to opportunities in a timely fashion; and

> Promote, support and develop the services under our Gwich’in Wellness camp so that our
Gwich'in nation continues to build healthy families and attitudes.

As President, | remain committed to building a sustainable economic base for our participants and our
communities. This includes maintaining support for the following:

» Completion of the Joint Review Panel report on the MacKenzie Gas Project.

> Design and construction of the MacKenzie Gas Pipeline project in an environmentally
responsible way.

> Completion of the Mackenzie Highway from Inuvik to Wrigley and all weather road connection
from Tuktoyuktuk,

» Reconstruction and upgrade to the Dempster Highway; and
» Increased business support and development.

All of these initfatives are supported by the Gwich'in Tribal Council and in some cases implemented by
the Gwich’in Development Corporation and will contribute to the economic prosperity for the Gwich'in
Nation.

I look forward to another productive year of progress as we move toward independence, self-sufficiency
and self-government.

Mashi’ Cho

President



EXECUTIVE—Vice-President Mary Ann Ross

Drin Gwiinzih, my friends,

I would like to thank you for showing your confidence in
me as the Vice-President. ] am very happy to have this
opportunity to report on the work I have done on your
behalf over the past year,

Portfolios

As a member of the GTC Executive, my portfolios include:

Self-Government Executive Committee (member/
Chair);

Lands and Resources;

Gwich'in Education and Training;

Health and Weliness Programs (day-to-day);

Finance Committee member; and

Executive Committee member (general governance);

Executive member responsible for Boards;
Gwich'in Social and Cultural Institute (GSCI); and
Gwich'in Enrolment Board

Executive member responsible for Trusts:
Gwich’in Harvester’ Assistance Program (GHAP);
Gwich'in Children’s Trust; Gwich'in Education Trust

Gwich'in Self-Government

Soon after re-election I worked with Richard Nerysoo,
President to develop the portfolios that I would work on
within the term | would be with the GTC, 1 asked for the
Self-government portfolio because | wanted to work
more closely on the file and to gain more insight and ex-
perience into what Self-government would be for our
Gwich'in Nation. I wanted to have a more hands-on ap-
proach and to give this portfolio more support and prior-
ity. Self-government over the years has evolved from the
Gwich'in working within the structure of the Beaufort-
Delta Self-Government Office to branching out on our
own. We have walked in unfamiliar areas as we have
progressed forward but this is the time to make our own
trails. Granted, a lot of good work was done with the
BDSGO but this is our time to show our independence
and to show that we are more than capable to develop
our own Gwich'in Self-Government Process. There has
been a lot of work done by past negotiators and we have
great appreciation for that and will not forget their con-
tribution. We are all a part of this process and [ am glad
to see the support that we have had in the communities
and within our Nation of people for the work that has
been done so far. Our Senior Negotiator, Joe Jack has
been working very hard at the Negotiations process. Joe
is well known in the Yukon, NWT, and in Ottawa. He has
brought our issues to the attention of the Auditor-
General and other federal departments to make changes
in how the Gwich'in are dealt with by the Federal Nego-
tiator. Soon after, there were changes made on the Fed-
eral Negotiating Team. Each of the four communities is
represented by their leadership and an Elder on the Ne-
gotiations Team. The Team has worked very hard with
workshops, negotiations meetings, and developing our

positions for the Self-Government Negotiations.
Through all our hard work and efforts, we had our first
round of work-shops in each community to explain Edu-
cation, and Income Support, We do have to get more of
the younger generation out to these workshops to get
their input. I am grateful to have the Elders support in
each community; they were very present at our work-
shops. Their consistent message is that the younger gen-
erations have to be there too, This is their future. Iam
very happy with the progress we have made in Self-
Government and [ hope you will feel the same as we
move forward to building a future for generations to
come,

Education and Training

The Aboriginal Skills to Employment (ASEP) - NWT 0il
and Gas Skills Development Strategy concluded on
March 31, 2008. It took several months to wrap up the
program and to publish the final report. The ASEP was
very successful in achieving its targets, and meeting its
objectives, This program was the definitive description
of what Aboriginal governments, GNWT, Federal Govern-
ment of Canada, and private Industry can do as partners.
The ASEP was a huge project, which required a lot of
time and effort on our part. [ am glad to say that the GTC
Executive and Staff made every effort to make this pro-
ject a success. The second proposal submission that was
tendered took a lot of time to hear a response back from
HRSDC. Towards the end they changed the criteria to be
developed, which caused the Partners to refocus and
look at what major development projects that were hap-
pening in each region. During the development of the
revised proposal we were advised that we could do one
territorial proposal or form new and limited parmer-
ships. Due to differences in regional projects, the
Gwich’in and Inuvialuit decided to partner up on the Inu-
vik School and GNWT office complex/storage facility
projects, transportation and marine trades. The goal of
the new proposal is to deliver training-to-employment to
prepare Gwich'in Participants of the Mackenzie-Delta for
guaranteed employment opportunities created through
the construction, transport, and marine trades. Through
this project, Participants will receive the training and
workplace experience required to secure long-term, sus-
tainable jobs. Due to extenuating circumstances, the
partnership dissolved causing the Inuvialuit to submit
the proposal on their own. I have communicated with the
IRC to work with them on partnering up on the project at
this stage. Itis still early in the project to take part in the
agreement with the Inuvialuit. We have provided our
support to the contractor that will build the Inuvik
School, and GNWT office complex/storage facility and in
return has guaranteed to hire Gwich'in Participants on
the project regardless of the ASEP.
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EXECUTIVE — Vice-President Mary Ann Ross

The Education and Training department has gone
through some staff changes since December after Debra
English took educational leave for two years. Debra did
an excellent job while she was Regional Manager of Edu-
cation and Training. She worked hard to develop the
Handbook for Students which will guide students about
what the GTC Education and Training department offers
in programs and services, Debra and her staff worked
diligently on the ASEP work plan, budget, and helped to
finalize the accountabilities and reporting of the pro-
gram. Debra managed to continue to the work done by
the previous Regional Education Manager and worked to
revise and update policies. As technology is accessible by
most people, the Student Handbook, funding application
forms, and any other information developed for the use
of students will be made available on the website to
make their Educational endeavours a good and positive
experience is our mission. Ron Eldridge was hired as the
replacement Manager for the next few months, but in the
end it was best that the GTC hire a more experienced
Manager. In the early part of May, the GTC hired Patricia
McKinnon. Pat worked for the GTC many years ago; she
returns to us with more education and experience be-
hind her. Upon Pat’s arrival, she soon made herself very
comfortable and immersed herself in to the AHRDA pro-
gram, the Education Foundation, and Imperial fund. Itis
a blessing to have Pat back on staff and to take the lead in
the Education and Training department. Pat has a lot of
good ideas and incentives to work with the communities
to continue to build capacity. 1 know that Pat will do a lot
of excellent work in the coming years. Welcome back
Pat! The Education and Training Committee is a group of
dedicated individuals from each community, They heip
to steer the Education and Training ship by providing
their guidance, knowledge, and good judgement to help
fund students, support proposals, and programs to be
funded by training institutions. Aurora College has de-
veloped - over the years - many good programs and pro-
vides great service, and support to all students. We are
very appreciative of our partners in education; thank you
Aurora College and Staff for your ongoing dedicated sup-
port to Education, and Training in the Gwich'in Settle-
ment Region. [ believe, as we continue forward, we have
to believe in our Students to reach their personal excel-
lence, provide the necessary supports to them, and en-
couragement them, we will see many more people
achieve grade levels beyond grade 12. [ wish all Stu-
dents, regardless of what age you are, an excellent year
of study; you can accomplish anything you put your heart
and mind to.

Lands and Resources

The Lands, Resource, and Implementation (LRI) depart-
ment has functioned with three staff in the last few years.
Much good work was accomplished by Norman Snow-
shoe, former Director of LRI. | want to thank Norman for
his years of dedication to the GTC and wish him all the
best with his new position with the GNWT, | would like
to welcome Donald Andre as the new Director of this
department. Since Donald’s arrival, he has been imple-
menting his style of leadership in his position. | am very
happy with the results | have seen thus far. [ know that
Donald and his team consisting of Mardy Semmler, Lands
Manager, and Jozef Carnogursky, LRI Advisor, will con-
tinue to do excellent work to fulfill the mandate of the
LRI department.

In 2008, there has been more focus on Water: the man-
agement, quality, and protecting water from becoming a
commodity. Many years ago, no one thought they would
be buying water in bottles and large containers., The
more polluted the environment becomes, the more we
have to be aware of water contamination, bodies of wa-
ter becoming reservoirs for mine tailings, and rivers used
for affluence or drained of its precious water to steam oil
from the tar sands, The GTC is very much involved with
the NWT Water Strategy. The GTC has a different ap-
proach to discussing the issue of water in its region. We
want to hold community workshops on water issues and
then have one Regional Workshop to bring all the issues
together. Each Gwich'in Community is surrounded by
water; we have the largest delta in the world, one of the
longest recognized running rivers in the world, and many
pristine rivers and lakes, The Mackenzie River flows into
the Beaufort Sea; the pollution flowing from the develop-
ment in the south affects our waters and will cause long-
term effects. Water is certainly one of the top issues that
we will be dealing with over the next year and many
years to come.

Caribou concerns remain top priority for the GLRI. We
have worked well to manage the fall harvest by partner-
ing up with the TGRRC, GNWT-ENR, GRRB, and the
PCMB, to form a team that will deliver education infor-
mation on the herd and hunting practices, and to observe
any hunting activity that would jeopardize the Caribou
herd by over-harvesting or hunting the cows. The GLRI
department continues to deal with the Dempster High-
way Hunting Regulations and the Harvest Management
Plan for the Porcupine Caribou Management Board.
These three concerns go hand-in-hand in the proper
management and protection of the Porcupine Caribou
Herd.

K Gwich'in Tribal Council 2008-2009 Annual Report 7



EXECUTIVE— Vice-President Mary Ann Ross

This year’s Regional RRC meeting was held in Aklavik. in
the past, GTC took a lead role in developing the meetings,
the agenda, and chairing the meetings. This year Aklavik
took the lead role in managing the whole meeting. GTC
was invited to present and to answer any questions that
were directed to them. [ would like the management of
this very important meeting of the Renewable Resource
Councils to continue but to build on the relationship of
the Designated Gwich'in Organizations to be a part of
their process. | will continue to build on the capacity and
working relationship of the RRC's, and work to bring the
DGO’s to this important table where the RRC's work to
encourage and promote local involvement in conserva-
tion, harvesting studies, research and wildlife manage-
ment in their local communities.

Gwich’in Services

Beneficiary Services name was changed to Gwich'in Ser-
vices to better reflect the notion that everyone registered
under the land claim is a benefactor; that we are serving
all Gwich'in. The GCLCA describes Gwich'in as Partici-
pants - somebody who takes part in something. A Bene-
ficiary is someone that receives a benefit from something
- somebody entitled to money or property by a will, trust,
or insurance policy. This department will provide pro-
grams and services for the betterment of Gwich’in Par-
ticipants in the GSA and those living outside of the GSR.

One particular program that has evolved over the years
is the Gwich'in Harvesters Assistance Program (GHAP).
There have been a few reviews and a survey completed
to help improve the program. One improvement made
was to devolve more responsibility of the program to the
RRC's. [ am very happy to state that the overall manage-
ment of the program is now under the RRC's. They open
the program, receive applications, determine who re-
ceives funding, and set up a committee to hear any ap-
peals. So far | have heard only good reports back on the
program. Congratulations to each RRC for making this
program work for each Participant: they will benefit
from your well-run program. This year, due to the down
turn in the economy, the GHAP was affected. The value
of the investments was reduced due to market condi-
tions. Due to this, the GHAT Trustees who are the Board
of Directors moved a motion to not transfer the $12,500
in Community Initiative funds, and the $4,000 for Ad-
ministration fees until market conditions improve and
the value of the investments return to normal levels. The
GHAP is an incentive that helps Participants to harvest
even during this recession so that traditional harvesting
practices continue and people can rely on traditional
foods to be a part of the diet.

Gwich'in Services will strive to continue excellent service
and to provide programs that are relevant to Gwich'in
Participants needs now and in the future,

Regional Wellness

April 16, 2008 was the day we had the official opening of
the Wellness Camp. Denise Kurszewski worked very
hard to manage and facilitate the operations of the well-
ness camp. Denise resigned to do consulting work and
joined Jennifer Carey Consulting to work on the MGPSIF.
Jennifer Johnsan was hired before Denise departed as
the Executive Director to develop proposals that would
create programming in the wellness camp. Jennifer
formed 2 good team consisting of Camp Maintainer,
Camp Cook/Cook’s Helper, and Cleaning Staff to main-
tain the camp and keep it in functioning. A number of
programs were held that dealt specifically with the after-
math of the Residential School Experience. The many
people who took part in wellness workshops related
positive experiences with the programs and have found
the facility to be warm, welcoming, and comfortable.
During the break-up season, Jennifer resigned her posi-
tion to start her own consulting business. Her resigna-
tion left a big gap in the operations of the camp but the
camp managed on with the Camp Maintainer to keep the
facility running during the break up season. The Camp
Maintainer then resigned his position mid-July. I then
hired a Casual Camp Maintainer to ensure the building is
operating and the building was always secure from van-
dalism/theft and from bears. [ am currently working
with the Director of Gwich’in Services to develop a job
description specifically for a Camp Manager to manage
the camp. The previous Executive Director did two jobs
managing the camp and Executive Director duties, A
well-developed operating plan will be put together to
operate the Wellness Camp for the Fall/Winter
2009/2010. There is much interest in Wellness Camp to
hold meetings, and workshops by many organizations
and governments. We will strive to make everyone's
experience at the wellness camp good and memorable.

In closing, ! want to thank the GTC's dedicated staff this
group of people have showed their dedication and perse-
verance through this year of transition, and change. We
have accomplished a great deal of good work, and I hope
that everyone will show their appreciation by letting
them know. Your positive, constructive criticism and
support is always appreciated. | am always open to
hearing from you by phone, email, letters, or by dropping
by for a coffee/tea and a chat.

Mashi’ Choo,

Mary Ann Ross
Vice-President

0 Gwidl'in Tribal Council 2008-2009 Annual Report 8



EXECUTIVE —Chief Operating Officer

Drin Gwinzih, my friends.

Itis my pleasure to report to you on another busy and
productive year in the operations of the GTC,

Mackenzie Gas Project

In the past years there was a great deal of focus on mat-
ters related to the Mackenzie Gas Project and the natural
gas pipeline. Certainly there needed to be a focus in this
area, we needed to develop many of the agreements and
strategies to mitigate the impacts of such a huge develop-
ment project. The Gwich'in was the first to sign an Ac-
cess & Benefits agreement that is working for us today.
The Imperial fund will help to prepare our people to ac-
cess education, training, and employment in the Oil and
Gas industry. [ am now sitting on the Joint Advisory
Committee (JAC), the main committee dealing with the
implementation of our Access and Benefits Agreements
with Imperial Oil. The President and Vice-President have
attended separate meetings and normally the COO would
be assigned to this committee and to follow through with
its mandate, which is to handle all employment and con-
tracting issues related to the project. Wanda McDonald,
Manager of Business Development sits on the committee.
She will ensure continued building of capacity among
existing Gwich'in businesses and Participants are taking
full advantage of the employment and contracting oppor-
tunities the GTC successfully negotiated in the agree-
ments. This year I will be involving the Director of
Gwich’in Services, the Regional Manager of Education
and Training, and the Career Development Officer on the
committee so that the Education, Training, Employment,
and Business sectors of the Gwich'in are well repre-
sented. These new members will be non-voting observ-
ers, and through their observation, they will learn about
the JAC, and the Benefits and Access Agreement. Our
plan is to become familiar with the B/A, and to fully im-
plement its plan to prepare our people for the 0il and
Gas jobs at the Inuvik Area Facility and for the many
other jobs that will be related to that industry. The third
phase of the Mackenzie Gas Project Social Impact Fund
has been completed. Many thanks and gratitude goes out
to Jennifer Carey, from J.Carey Consulting, and Denise
Kurszewski, private consultant. These two amazing
women worked tirelessly to deliver a finished product
before June 30/09. Your communities were well repre-
sented by Leeann Nerysoo, Aklavik; Eileen Koe, Fort
McPherson; Chief Herbert Blake, Inuvik; and Elaine
Blake, Tsiigehtchic on the GSA MGPIF Steering Commit-
tee. Community consultations were delivered; recom-
mendations were implemented on the final report to the
Executive on June 26, and to the GTC Board of Directors
on August 10/09. All three phases are now complete and
at the recommendation of the communities is to not wait
for the MGP but to start implementing the plan to deliver
the programs as soon as fiscally possible and setting up
the GSA Regional Organization to help implement the

plan, and to develop a succession plan after the 10 year
agreement is over.

Inter-Governmental Affairs

GTC Leadership continues to work hard to develop and
maintain effective working relationships with other lev-
els of government. in May 2009, the President met with
other Regional Aboriginal Leaders in Yellowknife.
Through such meetings, Territorial and Aboriginal Lead-
ers bring attention to their respective needs, and discuss
various regional/territorial issues. The Leaders provide
input, feedback, and recommendations to the Territorial
government on the various issues to move the agenda
forward. The many items of discussion the leadership
deal with for example are: Electricity Regulations, Rates
and Subsidy Program, Northern Economic Development
Agency, Mackenzie Valley Highway, and Devolution and
Resource Revenue Sharing, Only through forums such as
this can Territorial and Regional Aboriginal Leaders de-
velop working relations, deal with issues; make projects
work for their respective regions, and to help govern-
ment deliver programs and services that are beneficial,
and to provide reasonable living standards for all its citi-
Zens,

Gwich'in MOU

The Gwich'in Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) has
been one of the most significant projects which we have
worked with the GNWT on government contracting. The
MOU expired, but has been extended. We will work on
the MOU during this extended period to deal with all the
grey areas of concern. We have contracted Jake Heron to
carry out negotiations with the GNWT. Jake has been
working on the file and had it extended. Government has
advised us they don’t have a mandate to negotiate a new
agreement, the problem is recognizing and respecting
the Gwich'in Settlement Area, using the Gwich'in regis-
tered companies, making sure we have measurement
tools to compare progress rather than just a number. We
have to measure in terms of expanding the Gwich'in busi-
nesses, what kind of employment, training, skills are re-
quired. There is much in the current MOU that is not
being implemented - i.e. before the contracts go out,
there is supposed to be a list, but they didn’t do that, That
doesn’t give us a chance to talk to the business sector
about the contracts we should get. A more proactive ap-
proach to the MOU will be implemented on our part to
ensure that information is received in a timely manner so
that we can consult our businesses and respond effec-
tively and efficiently. We believe the MOU could work
better, but recognize that it has given Gwich'in busi-
nesses a “door of opportunity
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Third Party Funding

Third party funding continues to be a major concern for
the GTC. The GTC continues to deal with the Federal Gov-
ernment’s lack of support for adequate funding. This is
not only our concern but a shared concern by many
other Aboriginal governments across Canada. The lack
of sufficient funding for Implementation and the Self-
Government process delays our growth as a Gwich'in
Government. We have been encouraged by the Land
Claims Agreements Coalition's work to address modern
day treaties - "Model Canadian Treaty Implementation
Policy”, and the Senate Committee on “Aboriginal Peo-
ples, titled "Honoring the Spirit of Modern Treaties: Clos-
ing the Loopholes”.

This year our job is to secure more third party funding,
to alleviate the demands on our land claim settlement
fund, There are pians to increase capacity in our Direc-
tors, and Managers in proposal writing workshops, and
work plan development. Through more capacity devel-
opment within our staff we will ensure that our land
claim organization receives sufficient funding that wili
reflect the many areas of responsibility we carry. 1 am
very hopeful that this internal initiative will narrowing
the gap between what we receive in funds and what we
need to provide quality services and programs for all
Gwich'in Participants. The GTC is determined to work
hard to secure third-party funding each year and to
maintain the levels of service we deliver.

Designated Gwich'in Organizations

This is the first year the GTC, DGO's, and RRC's have
functioned under the new Fiscal Policy. We will review
the previous year’s annual plans, reporting, and budgets
to see how the first year was managed. It is unfortunate
that during this first year of being totally self-sufficient,
the world was impacted by the economic down turn.
This has affected the Gwich'in Settlement Corporation,
and there will be discussions with the DGO's on how we
manage through this recession. Good accounting prac-
tices is to always review new process, to see how they
have worked, revise where possible, and keep what
works, As we continue to build capacity within the GTC,
our plans are to continue to build capacity within the
DGO’s, and the RRC's. The GTC Strategic Plan has been
revised, and the Human Resource Strategic Plans will be
revisited. A lot of time and effort was put into these
plans, our job is to work with them, and implement them
where possible. Self-government will require many
skilled administrators, accountants, managers, directors,
and high level management to take responsibility of the
jurisdictions, and to deliver the programs and services to
our citizens, The constant capacity development of our
people will ensure that we are prepared and ready when
it does happen,

Youth Support and Leadership

The GTC sponsors many youth activities to support
healthy and productive choices. We are also working to
create the next generation of brilliant leaders. The GTC
worked in partnership with Qutward Bound Canada,
MACA, and Gwich'in Business Sponsors to deliver the
Gwich’in Youth Leadership Expedition on the Peel River.
We are proud to say that eight youth participated, and
eight youth completed the program that began on July 2,
and finished on july 21, 2009. The program was chal-
lenging, rewarding, and memorable. The GTC will con-
tinue to work with the communities to deliver such youth
and leadership programs so that all youth, regardless of
their position in life, are included. Congratulations to the
youth that participated and we look forward to next
year's program. Please encourage your youth to partici-
pate in their personal development, and to learn about
this beautiful land we call our home. The GTC is a proud
sponsor of the Gwich'in Cup. This is the18th year of the
Gwich'in Cup, the GC brings together minor hockey teams
to participate, learn, and have a great deal of fun. Itis
always a pleasure to see many young people from inside
and outside the GSA compete. We are looking forward to
2010 Gwich'in Cup and to one day having a young inspir-
ing hockey player play in the minor, professional, or
Olympic league.

GTC Staff and Operations

The GTC is very proud and respectful of the people who
work for its Land Claim organization. Itis only through
its staff that political leaders can carry out the enormous
amounts of work they do. [ want to thank departing staff
that have been dedicated to the work they did, and to the
GTC:

® Denise Kurszewski, now in private contracting;
Norman Snowshoe, Aboriginal Liaison for the GNWT;
Karen Snowshoe;

Charlene Ross;

Debra English;

Jennifer Johnson;

Tony Klengenberg; and

Elsie Bodnar.
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They will be recognized for their dedication, and tireless
effort to keep our organization operating so that we pro-
vide the best service possible to our Participants. | want
to welcome so new people that are taking on the respon-
sibilities of Directorship, Management, and support posi-
tions within the GTC:

s  Holly Norris, Director of Gwich'in Services;

& Donald Andre, Director of Gwich'in Lands, Re-
sources, and Implementation;

¢ Joe |ack, Senior Negotiator for Self-Government;

¢  Delmar Rinas, Information Technology Technician;

® Angela Horbatch, Senior Finance Officer;

e Patricia McKinnon, Regional Manager of Education

and Training; and
e Karen Mitchel), Residential School Support Worker.

Throughout 2009, and 2010 the Executive will be work-
ing to enhance areas of administration, policies, proce-
dures, capacity development, program delivery, review,
and implementation of our Strategic Plans. | am locking
forward to the work a head but also having your partici-
pation, encouragement, and patience as we mave for-
ward to developing our Self-Government,

Mashi' Choo,

Mary Ann Ross
Acting-Chief Operating Officer
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Drin Gwiinzih,

My name is Evelyn Bullock and | have been appointed the
interim Chief Financial Officer to manage the overall fi-
nancial responsibilities: this has been challenging but a
fast learning experience for me.

Corporate services includes: Corporate Secretary, Office
Manager, Finance and IT support.

The Corporate Secretary provides day-to-day administra-
tive support to GTC staff. This is a vital position in our
office and currently staffed by Millie Jansen: she is ex-
pected to greet the public in a friendly and professional
manner and provide support services to all GTC staff,
Other duties include maintaining the GTC filing systems;
ensuring all telephone and email inquiries are addressed;
arranging meetings, travel, and accommodations; and
ensuring all office equipment are maintained and in
proper working order.

The Office Manager provides day to day administrative
support to the Gwich'in Tribal Council Staff and is staffed
by Cheryl Wright. She administers the Gwich’'in Enrol-
ment Registry by ensuring all issues are addressed and
information are up to date; ensuring the Gwich'in Har-
vesters Assistance Program is run effectively; and that
the Gwich'in Education Foundation involves proper proc-
essing of applicants.

Information Technology (IT) Services is a new position
which was created in March of this year and is currently
staffed by Delmer Rinas to provide technical maintenance
of all computer hardware and software, He also provides
support to the DGO/Bands in each community. Some of
his work activity includes working with Northern Proper-
ties to install surveillance cameras for security purposes;
working with the DGO/band office servers and email sys-
tems; inventory of IT systems; and working on a disaster
recovery plan.

The Finance department is responsible for the day-to-day
accounting operations and financial affairs for the
Gwich'in Tribal Council, GDC and related entities and the
preparation of monthly financial reports. The Finance
department continues to be extremely busy with the de-
parture of Charlene Ross, the former Chief Finance Offi-
cer.

It has been a very busy year for all areas of Corporate
Services as we continue to reorganize the office, such as
ensuring the filing system is user-friendly, so that we are
providing better service to everyone and be able to re-
spond effectively and efficiently to the needs of cur Par-
ticipants and Staff.,

One of the key components we will focus on for next year
is the Financial Administration Manual. I will review the
policies and procedures and to ensure that information is
accurate and up to date.

I look forward to the future of GTC with the proposed
reorganization and restructuring as we move towards
streamlined organizational goals and objectives.
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The department of Gwich'in Services is made up of five
key areas including Human Resources - GTC, Education &
Training, Employment & Career Development, Education
Foundation and Gwich'in Harvesters assistance Program.
Each of these program areas are managed by one or more
of our staff,

DIRECTOR - Holly Norris, Holly joined the team in No-
vember of 2008 and oversees the department and re-
ports to the Executive on the activities of the department.
She is also responsible for providing the Human Re-
sources function to the staff of the Gwich'in Tribal Coun-
cil, and the Gwich'in Social Cultural Institute. She main-
tains employee files, all staffing of positions as well as sits
on various committees in the community regarding ca-
pacity development and community events. Holly over-
sees the Education Foundation, and Professional Devel-
opment. Holly has also set goals to complete a first year
academic Human Resource Management certificate pro-
gram online throughout the winter 2009,

MANAGER EDUCATION & TRAINING - Patricta Mckinnon,
Pat is responsible for the day to day operations of the
Education & Training staff. Pat supervises the AHRDA
Coordinator, Diane Koe in Fort McPherson who reports
to her and provide services to participants accessing edu-
cation and training programs. Under Pat's responsibility
is the AHRDA - Aboriginal Human Resource Development
Agreement. Pat works closely with our funders as well as
groups and individuals that we fund.

Last year the Education and Training Dept merged with
the Gwich'in Tribal Council (GTC) Beneficiary Services
Department. The GTC Education and Training Depart-
ment consists of Regional Manager, Patricia McKinnon
(Inuvik); AHRDA Coordinator Diane Koe and Senior Fi-
nance Officer Norma Blake are located at Fort McPher-
son. Debra English, the former Regional Manager, has left
her position to pursue a Bachelor of Arts after Degree at
the University of Alberta. The GTC staff, executive, and
beneficiaries thank Debra for all her hard work, dedica-
tion and applaud her in pursuing this academic endeavor.
The department currently administers the Aboriginal
Human Resource Development Agreement (AHRDA),

The mandate of the Training Committee is to provide
support to the Education and Training Department with
regard to the program delivery of the Aboriginal Human
Resource and Skills Development Strategy and GTC Edu-
cation Foundation programs, The Training Committee
has been established to ensure effective planning and
resource management of these programs, through plan-
ning, implementation and evaluation. The Education and
Training Committee also enhances the image of the Edu-
cation and Training Department to the Community.

The department receives input from the GTC Education
and Training Committee, which includes one member
from each Gwich'in Settlement Area community. The

Education and Training Committee members consist of:
Ann May McLeod (Tsiigehtchic); Anita Koe (Fort McPher-
son); Herbert Blake (Inuvik) and Leanne Nerysoo
(Aklavik). Mary Ann Ross, vice-president, has the Educa-
tion and Training portfolio within the GTC Executive. The
Committee meets and makes decisions on funding pro-
posals, student requests and the development of the Edu-
cation & Training plan.

This past year the Education and Training Committee
members, staff and executive reviewed and made
changes to the GTC Education and Training Policy Manual
for the incoming elected Executive Council's approval. in
the near future the policy manual will be available on the
GTC website. Additionally, an Education & Training hand-
book that outlines the criteria and programs for Gwich'in
beneficiaries was developed by the department, and
available upon request. The funding application form was
also updated and place on the website for students to
access it. In the near future we will have the GTC applica-
tion form an online application submitted by email to the
Coordinators. This application on line process is work in
progress.

Labour Market Programs

Gwich'in Tribal Council continues to partner with Aurora
College, GNWT Education, Culture & Employment, Inuvi-
aluit Regional Corporation and industry partners on com-
munity projects and/or college programs. This year, the
department provided financial support for the following
programs:

Aurora College Programs

Trades Access Program

Caribou Outreach Center

Natural Resource Technology Program

¢ Office Administration Program (2~ year}
0il and Gas Pre-employment Training in Norman Wells
($20K - 11 students)
Community based initiatives
e Career Pamphlet - Gwich'in Social & Cultural Insti-
tute

Wage Subsidi

The following organizations received financial assistance
for their wage subsidy positions:

Edhiitat Gwich'in Council
® Fipance Administration Trainee
¢ Community Coordinator Trainee Apprentices
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Tetlit Gwich'in Council

®  Administrative Assistant Trainee -project cancelled
due to GNWT budget cuts

® Executive Assistant Trainee

¢ Finance Officer Trainee - project cancelled due to
GNWT budget cuts

Gwich'in Social & Cultural Institute
® Research Assistant Trainee ~ Ended August (GNWT
budget cuts)

Gwichya Gwich'in Council
®  Administrative Assistant
® Finance Clerk Trainee

Empl Assistance Servi

The Gwich'in Tribal Council along with ECE continues to
fund the community employment officer position with
the Edhiitat Gwich'in Council and Tetlit Gwich'in Council.
In addition, a Career Development Liaison position at the
Inuvik District Education Authority was supported by the
GTC.

Skills Devel & Tuition. Books. Living Al
and Travel Costs

Students who attended educational courses or programs
received one or a combination of these costs: tuition,
books, travel costs or living allowances were provided.
As well, childcare for five working or training parents
received financial support for their day care needs.

YOUTH PROGRAMS

Summer student positions were funded for the following
organizations:

e Hamlet of Aklavik - 5 positions

e Nihtat Gwich'in Council - 1 position

e Tetlit Gwich'in Council - 10 positions

PERSONS with DISABILITIES

Edhiitat Gwich'in Council
¢  Wood mizer Project

e Tetlit Gwich’'in Council
® Wood mizer Project

URBAN ACTIVITIES
The eight students are receiving funds for tuition, books

and living allowance, one attend pre employment pro-
gram and another attended safety courses.

EIRST NATIONS CHILDCARE

There are three Child Development Centers in the region.

® 73 licensed spaces in all AHRDP funded daycare cen-
ters

children registered fulltime: 56 part-time: 22
children on waitlists: 87;

working/training parents served: 90.

All child care funding was distributed to the commu-
nity-based facilities in September.

GTC Staff collaborated with Child Development Centre
managers on posters, patential training and issues and
concerns that arise with staff and centers. A recommen-
dation made by the Child Development center staff was
to develop and create an Early Childhood program
poster about the centers in the region. This poster would
increase awareness and promote early education as a
healthy education choice.

1 would to recognize the Education and Training Commit-
tee, and GTC staff for their commitment to providing
quality and equitable programming in the Gwich'in Set-
tlement Area communities and look forward to working
towards another productive and successful year.

Patricia McKinnon
Regional Manager

CAREER DEVELOPMENT OFFICER - Margaret Gordon, is
the Career Development Officer for the Gwich'in Tribal
Council. This position is very key to our department as it
is the first contact that our participants have with us
when accessing programs that we offer. It assists partici-
pants in the following areas, resume writing, job
searches, career development, applications for funding,
as well as sitting as a part of a career development team
that involves the Department of Education Culture and
Employment and Inuvialuit Regional Corporation in de-
livering career fairs, and career week activities, just to
name a few. Over the next year Margaret will be travel-
ling to the communities to meet with students in the
schools and deliver various workshops to community
members,

OFFICE MANAGER - Cheryl Wright, is not really a mem-
ber of this department yet she provides many vital ser-
vices to our participants and reports on them to the Di-
rector, Gwich’in Services. Our Education Foundation pro-
grams, bursaries, scholarships, grad gifts are all proc-
essed through Cheryl. She also keeps track of all enroll-
ment of participants entering and leaving our claim,
Cheryl also provided program support to the GHAP.

» Gwich'in Tribal Council 2008-2009 Annual Repor 14



TRIBAL OPERATIONS - GWICH'IN SERVICES

ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT - Gina Firth, joined the
department November 14, 2006 she has moved to Inuvik
from Fort McPherson. Gina's responsibilities are to keep
us organized as a department. She will be issuing enroll-
ment cards to participants, assisting were needed and
keeping our Human Resource Database up to date. Please
feel free to contact Gina if you have any questions at all,
she will be happy to assist you and direct you to the per-
son you may require. Gina is the main contact for the
GHAP file.

CONCLUSION

The past year has proven to be a very busy one for our
staff; we accomplished a lot and continue to work to-
wards implementing the goals set by our Executive and
Board of Directors. For this next year we anticipate
working closely with the communities. Our Human Re-
source Assessment and Education Strategy will be our
guiding documents that we will follow.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my staff for
all of their hard work and dedication to providing ser-
vices to participants throughout the GSA and beyond.
Well done and thank you!!!
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# of Harvesters # of Harvesters

Ap- |Fund | De- Ap- |Fund | De-
Aklavik Payments | plied | ed | nied | NIC Fort McPherson Payments | plied | ed | nied { N/C
Spring 2008 $11,257.50] 8 6 0 2 Spring 2008 $29,827.36] 26 23 1 2
Fall 2008 $12,163.05] 10 7 1 2 Fall 2008 $25531.89] 52 28 24
Community Based Community Based
Initiatives $12,500.00 Initiatives $12,500.00
Admin Fees $4.000.00 Admin Fees $4,000.00}

$39,920.55) 18 13 1 4 $71,859.25] 78 51 25 2

Ap- |Fund| De- Ap- | Fund| De-
Inuvik Payments | plied | ed | nied | NIC Tsiigehtchic Payments | plled | ed | nied | NIC
Spring 2008 $13,888.50] 8 7 1 0] Spring 2008 $12568.13] 7 4 2
Fall 2008 $12,801.25) 10 8 2 Fall 2008 $15,692.60] 7 3 3 1
Community Based Community Based
Initiatives $12,500.00 lInitiatives $12.500.00
Admin Fees $4,000.00 Admin Fees $4,000.00

$43,289.75] 18 15 3 0 $44,761.73] 14 T ] 1
Out of G.5.A. Spring
2008 $2,996.24 1 1 0 0
*Out of G.S.A. Fall
2008 4 2 2
*(Gne applicant not denied, but directed to apply in Spring 2009)
Total GHAP $'s spent $202,827.52
2008 Spring/Fall To- Fund | De-
tals: Payments | Appl.| ed | nied | NIC
Total Payments Har-
Aklavik $39,820.55] 18 13 1 4 vesters $136,827.52
Community Based

|Fort McPherson $71,859.25} 78 51 25 2 Initiatives $50,000.00
Inuvik $43.289.75] 18 15 3 0 Admin Fees to RRC's $16,000.00
Tsiigehtchic $44,761.73] 14 7 6 1 Total GHAP §'s spent $202,827.52
Out of G.S.A. $2,996.24] 5 1 0 0

133 87 35 7
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The Lands, Resources, and Implementation (LRI) depart-

ment is responsible for coordinating and facilitating vari-

ous activities and programs related to implementation of
the Gwich’in Comprehensive Land Claim Agreement

{GCLCA) including but not limited to:

¢ the management and administration of Gwich'in-
owned lands within the NWT and Yukon;

e issues, policies, and regulations relating to the man-
agement of harvesting, wildlife, and the environ-
ment; and

e other GCLCA-related issues.

LANDS ADMINISTRATION

Lands Administration processed the following authoriza-
tions or leases for access to Gwich’in owned land.

Total Authorizations issued in 2008:
Access

Research
Quarry
Camp (Non-Gwich'in)

[=TRE - B 7% S — R |

Authorizations issued in first half of 2009:
Access and Research
Research

Quarry
Camp (Non-Gwich'in)

(=T — T .~ - Y — I ]

Leases

Significant Projects

Harvester and Cabin Database: The GTC continue to
register Participant cabins and harvesting areas within
the GSA. This information is required to ensure develop-
ment programs do not affect traditional and cultural use
by participants. Participants who register their cabins
receive a full-size Gwich'in Nation flag. GTC has finalized
a residential leases authorization for all non-Gwich'in
camps within the GSA. The GTC requires all non-
Gwich’in cabin owners to enter into a long term residen-
tial lease.

Land Management and Control Guidelines and Fee
Schedule: The GTC land access fees have been updated
for the 2009-2010 season. An automatic annual multi-
plier was added and will continue to increase on an an-
nual basis beginning each April 1. The Guidelines were
updated to accommodate new GTC policies and new cate-
gories of land use activities. The Land Management and
Control Guidelines is a working document and will be
updated as required over time and approved by the GTC
Board of Directors to ensure all aspects of land use and
policy are covered off within the Guidelines.

GTC Harvester Impact and Mitigation Compensation
Policy: The GTC Board of Directors has approved the
GTC Harvester Impact and Mitigation Compensation Pol-
icy. The policy was developed to assist harvesters by
providing a process for acquiring compensation from
development activities and industry groups which have
impacted their traditional harvesting pursuits.

NWT Water Strategy: The GNWT and INAC are working
collaboratively on a Water Strategy for the NWT. The
Strategy is in the initial phase and an Aboriginal Working
Group has been formed. The GTC will ensure the follow-
ing are included in the Water Strategy; all Agreements
pertinent to water should be developed on mutually
agreed to principles to ensure accountability; and water
should not be a commodity to be bought and sold under
any circumstances.

Yukon Environmental and Socio-Economic Assess-
ment Act (YESAA) Implementation: GTC staff mem-
bers have been participating in the implementation of the
Yukon Environmental and Socio-Economic Assessment Act,
The GTC will continue to coordinate activities associated
with the YESAA Designated Offices in Dawson and Mayaq,
YT. The YESAA is undergoing a Five-Year Review and the
GTC has been participating in the review process which
should be completed by June 2009 with a final report
being submitted with recommendations to YTG.

Peel Watershed Planning Commission {PWPC): The
GTC has been participating along with the Yukon Plan-
ning Commission, Vuntut Gwitchin, Na Cho Nyak Dun,
Trondek Hwechin, and Tetlit Gwich’in in the develop-
ment of the Peel watershed land use plan. The GTC con-
tinues to participate in the Peel Watershed Land Use
Planning Process as a Technical Working Group member
who assists the PWPC in information gathering and sce-
nario option activities. The GTC representative on the
PWPC is Mr, Peter ]. Kaye from Fort McPherson who is
very familiar with the planning area. A draft plan has
been developed and out for review and comment. The
GTC will be providing comments to the PWPC with their
issues, concerns and recommendations.

Cumulative Impacts Monitoring Program (CIMP) and
Audit and Environmental Management Framework -
formerly Cumulative Effects Assessment and Manage-
ment (CEAM): CIMP and CEAM are both initiatives of
the regional office of DIAND. CIMP is a requirement of
the GCLCA and the Mackenzie Valley Resource Manage-
ment Act. CIMP requires an environmental audit every
five years to identify changes in environmental quality
and effectiveness of current environmental management
and monitoring by the Federal Government and NWT
communities. The first audit was completed in 2006 and
the terms of reference have been developed for the 2vd
NWT Environmental Audit which is to be completed by
year end 2010.
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The GTC participated in prioritizing and implementing
the 1% audit recommendations and will continue to par-
ticipate in the 2nd NWT Environmental Audit. The GTC
continues to lobby the Government of Canada Treasury
Board for long-term funding for these initiatives to pro-
vide for better environmental stewardship in the
Gwich'in Settlement Area and the NWT as a whole.

Protected Areas Strategy: The Government of the NWT
established a Protected Areas Strategy (PAS) along with
a Five-Year Action Plan. The GTC is a member of the PAS
working group and continue to express their views with
regard to this initiative. The GTC is monitoring the
Gwich'in Land Use Plan to determine if adequate protec-
tion is provided within the Gwich'in Settlement Area and
will continue to use the Land Use Plan as the main in-
strument for Protected Areas within the GSA. Direction
has been given through the PAS WG that an exit strategy
has to be developed and the program passed on to the
respective Claimant Groups and Government Depart-
ments that identified and sponsored the potential pro-
tected areas ie: Parks Canada, Canadian Wildlife Service,
GNWT, etc.

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

Dempster Highway Hunting Regulations: (NWT and
Yukon): The GTC Lands and Resources Advisor contin-
ues to work with GNWT, YTG, GRRB, RRC’s, and PCMB to
implement changes to the Dempster Highway Hunting
Regulations. The GTC is monitoring a legal chalienge to
the DHR in the Yukon. The Dempster Highway Regula-
tions are not being enforced by YTG because of this legal
challenge.

Dall’s Sheep Management Plan; The GTC continues to
assist in the development of the management plan for
Dall's sheep in the Northern Richardson Mountains. The
management plan has been presented to communities
for feedback and is now in the final draft stage, The
working group is hoping to have the plan signed by all
plan partners by midyear (June) of 2009,

Sumps in the Yukon: Due to concerns from community
members of Fort McPherson the GTC, Tetlit Gwich'in
Council and the YTG continue to assess the abandoned
well sites in the Peel River Watershed. An assessment
program has been carried out and YTG has developed a
report which has been circulated to the communities.
The GTC will continue to participate with the working
group to assess all existing sites and recommend reme-
diation if necessary.

Porcupine Caribou Management Board and Porcu-
pine Caribou Management Agreement: The GTC sup-
ported an amendment to the Porcupine Caribou Manage-
ment Agreement to change “Dene Metis” to "Gwich'in”
and allow for more than one Gwich'in representative.

These amendments haven't occurred yet. Meanwhile the
GTC appointed Frederick “Sonny” Blake |r. as its repre-
sentative on the Porcupine Caribou Management Board.
The GTC continues to participate in the development of a
Harvest Management Plan (HMP) for the Porcupine Cari-
bou Herd in Canada.

Forest Management in the GSA: The GTC continues to
assist in the development of a Forest Management Plan
for the GSA in conjunction with the GRRB and GNWT En-
vironment and Natural Resources. The working group
presented the draft plan at the Regional RRC meeting in
Aklavik this January 2009, The regional RRC recom-
mended that the Forest Management Plan be sent to the
appropriate organizations for signatures. The working
group is in the process of finalizing the plan in prepara-
tion for the signatures,

MVRMA Amendments: Amendments to the MVRMA are
completed to ensure the provisions of the Tlicho Agree-
ment are included into the MVRMA. Most of the work is
legal wording of the MVRMA to ensure the GCLCA provi-
sions are not being affected. The report is complete and
requires GTC Board of Directors approval.

Caribou and the Dempster Highway Elders Cam-
paign: The GTC receives an annual fund of 10K to bring
Gwich'in Elders and youth on the highway to discuss har-
vesting and traditional values in regard to caribou with
harvesters along the Dempster Highway. It also allows
the GTC to be present on the highway during peak migra-
tion seasons. This was by request from the community
of Fort McPherson. This has been ongoing for three
years, since 2006, and will continue into the future on an
annual basis.

NWT Wildlife Act: The process to amend the NWT Wild-
life Act has begun and the GTC is participating in the
process, The GNWT is providing funding for the GTC to
have legal counsel available throughout the process to
ensure that provisions from the GCLCA are not compro-
mised.

Gwich'in Renewable Resource Board: The GTC is con-
tinuing to work closely with the GRRB with regard to
resource management issues and resource management
planning in the GSA.

Regional RRC Meeting: The GTC Lands & Resources
department presented an update of our activities at the
Regional RRC meeting in Aklavik in January 2009, Each
community RRC is taking on more respensibilities with
regard to administration matters, as a result of this, com-
munity RRC's now organize and prepare all aspects of
this regional gathering.
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Peel River Water Quality Program: The GTC met with
INAC to discuss the final results of the Peel River Water
Quality Program. A public meeting was held in Fort
McPherson on December 3, 2008 with Andrea Czarnecki
(INAC), Dr. Andrew Corriveau and GTC staff in atten-
dance to discuss and explain the results. This annual
water quality program has been completed and follow
up water and sediment samples will be collected every
five years to track the water quality of the Peel River.
The next samples will be collected in 2013 during the
sumimer season,

Yukon Species at Risk: The YTG is drafting legislation
with regard to Yukon Species at Risk. The GTC has re-
quested that YTG provide funding for the GTC's partici-
pation and for legal counsel. So far funding has not been
provided and the GTC LRI will be monitoring the devel-
opment of the Yukon Species at Risk and will participate
in a more meaningful manner in the event the legislation
may interfere with Gwich'in harvesting rights within the
Yukon. In this case, the GTC may have to seek legal ad-
vice and/or challenge the Legislation.

Yukon Wildlife Act Amendments: The GTC has re-
quested the YTG provide funding for the GTC's participa-
tion and for legal counsel. So far funding has not been
provided and the GTC LRI will be monitoring the Yukon
Wildlife Act Amendments and will participate in a more
meaningful manner in the event the amendments inter-
fere with Gwich'in harvesting rights within the Yukon. In
this case, the GTC may have to seek legal advice and/or
challenge the legislation.

Yukon Government/Gwich'in Tribal Council Consul-
tation Protocol: The GTC is pursuing a consultation pro-
tocol with the Yukon Government. This protocol will be
based on legal requirement to consult and accommodate.
The GTC hired legal counsel to draft a protocel which
will be tabled when the Yukon Government decides to
meet with the GTC on this issue. A formal letter was sent
to Premier Fentie in which the GTC has received no re-
sponse, Upon follow-up it was revealed that Mr. Fentie
has delegated the matter to his Environment Minister.
The Yukon Government has agreed to meet annually but
were reluctant to meet this year and the GTC will con-
tinue to pursue this issue,

IMPLEMENTATION

Amendments to the GCLCA:  Over the past year, the
GTC and DIAND have been working on an amendment to
the GCLCA to allow more than the 15-year specified pe-
riod of time for the distribution of funds to Participants
(Beneficiaries). The amendment has been finalized and is
in the Government of Canada approval process.

Economic Measures: In the past, the GTC has often ex-
pressed the opinion that the Economic Measures chapter

of the GCLCA was not being properly implemented to
address the objective of economic self-sufficiency. The
land claim agreement requires that government meet
with the GTC at least once every three years to review
the effectiveness of programs in relation to the objectives
of the GCLCA. Past reviews have been inadeguate be-
cause they were merely an overview of programs and did
not “review the effectiveness of the programs relating to
the objectives,” as required by the land claim. The GTC
continues to work with the Government of Canada to
improve the effectiveness of federal programs for eco-
nomic development in the GSA.

Communications CD-ROM: The GTC has nearly com-
pleted work on a CD-Rom that can be used to communi-
cate the GCLCA in class rooms. It will focus on the rele-
vance and importance of the Agreement by highlighting
life before the Agreement and changes that resulted from
the Agreement. It will raise awareness of what lies
ahead in terms of self-government and other implemen-
tation challenges. The IC has hirec a Gwich'in participant
to translate the CD ROM into Gwich'in.

Land Claims Advisory Coalition (LCAC): As a result of
the November 2003 conference to explore common is-
sues among those with settled land claims, a coalition of
settled land claim groups was formed. The purpose is to
work together to address issues of land claims agree-
ment implementation and to encourage DIAND to take
new, more effective approaches to implementation. The
GTC is participating in the coalition and is supportive of
its initiatives. Over the past reporting period, the focus
of the coalition was to urge the federal government to
work with it to develop a more effective land claims im-
plementation policy which addresses the objectives of
land claims and improve conflict resolution.

Wildlife and Species at Risk Legislation: The NWT
Species at Risk Act {(SARA) has been drafted and the GTC
is involved in the review process. The process to amend
the NWT Wildlife Act was not started until the NWT
SARA was completed. The GTC and other Land Claim
Groups concern about inclusion in the drafting of the
SARA has been addressed by the GNWT. The GTC was an
active participant in the development of the SARA. The
Draft SARA will be presented to the legislature for re-
view. Upon completion of the Jegislative review, the draft
will be presented to the GTC Board of Directors for re-
view.
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Mackenzie Gas Project - Regulatory Review: The GTC
has been participating in the regulatory review currently
underway for the Mackenzie Gas Project. The project
proponents, led by Imperial, filed their regulatory appli-
cations and Environmental Impact Statement with the
National Energy Board (NEB) and the Joint Review Panel
{IRP), respectively, in October 2004. The NEB and JRP
conducted a technical review of the application material
in 2005 and commenced the public hearing process in
early 2006, The NEB is considering the project's techni-
cal, safety and economic aspects while the JRP is consid-
ering evidence and impact on environmental, socio-
economic and cultural issues and will make recommen-

dations in their final report for the project proponents
and the Federal and Territorial Governments. The GTC
participated in the JRP hearings as an intervener, The
GTC is awaiting the final report of the JRP which is to be
completed by December 2009,
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Well it’s that time of the year again when the GTC depart-
ments submit annual reports on activities throughout the
year. The Business Development Department (BDD) is
an administrative body of the GTC and separate from the
Gwich'in Development Corporation. To further clarify,
the GTC is the sole shareholder of the Gwich'in Develop-
ment Corporation mandated to pursue commercial op-
portunities that will earn a return on investment to its
shareholder. Both business entities have separate vision
statements that define where we would like to be in the
future, Within the BDD there is one (1) position, Manager
of Business Development which reports to the Chief Op-
erating Officer. However, due to the broader initiatives
undertaken and change in leadership, our department
has worked directly under President Richard Nerysoo.
Since the leadership change in June 2008, President
Nerysoo has the responsibility to promote GTC’s Leader-
ship change to the public, introduce the leadership’s vi-
sion and goal and objectives as it relates to doing busi-
ness with the Gwich'in Tribal Council.

The Business Development Department mandate is to

implement the following initiatives:

®  Gwich'in Business Policy;

s Government of the Northwest Territories/GTC Memo-
randum of Understanding (MOU);

® Industry Access and Benefits Agreements in effect;
GTC/IORVL

® (Gwich'in Business Capacity Building Initiatives;

¢  Manage the Gwich’in Business Development; and

e  Other related Projects/Activities

Gwich’in Business Policy was revised and passed by the
GTC Board of Directors on February 2, 2009. Notable
changes to the policy include the definition of Best Total
Value and other regulatory/legislative changes that im-
pact how business is conducted. The Business Policy is
available from the GTC office.

GNWT MOU - Negotiations are on-going as of the time of
this report.

Industry Access and Benefits Agreements in effect:
Currently, the IORVL/GTC Access and Benefits agree-
ment is in effect. The Joint Advisory Committee (JAC)
meeting is held quarterly throughout the year. The JAC is
responsible to administer the A & B commitments. Some
initiatives underway are: 1) Northern Business Develop-
ment Workshop 2009. This training package has been
designed by IORVL to assist local Northern businesses to
participate in the Mackenzie Gas Project business oppor-
tunities by increasing their understanding of the require-
ments, processes and procedures on Procurement. At
this time, it looks like the training will be offered in Sep-
tember/October 2009. Grace Blake, Regional Liaison,
10RVL and I will be working on providing notice prior to
the workshop dates. 2) Develop an information leaflet
on Set Aside Work Categories that could materialize from

the Mackenzie Gas Pipeline. This is very important infor-
mation for the business community to assist with future
planning for their business in terms of growth, diversifi-
cation and competition.

Kodiak Energy Inc. - At this time Kodiak is considering
whether to renew their existing license for EL 413 which
expires September 2009. The Joint Management Com-
mittee Agreement and the Amended Joint Benefits Agree-
ment have been finalized and are ready for signing. The
Amended Access Agreement has been reviewed and mi-
nor changes have been recommended to Kodiak by the
GTC prior to finalizing. As of the time of this report, we
are monitoring Kodiak's progress.

MGM Energy Inc. MOU - In February 2009, the GTC de-
cided not to further renew the MOU. This will allow GTC
to develop a Rights Issuance Regime for Gwich'in Lands
within the GSA. This will be discussed later in the report.

Gwich'in Business Development Strategic Plan - A
final draft BDD Strategic Plan was development in Au-
gust 2008. Currently, the decision to accept the final plan
is on hold until GTC and GDC Strategic Plans are updated.
The GDC update is planned for this fiscal year. Both the
GDC and BDD strategic plans are to be consistent with
GTC's overall direction and mandate. Completion time-
lines have not been finalized as the time of submission of
this report.

Gwich’in Business Capacity Initiatives; The BDD re-

ceives a fair number of calls for financial assistance for

start up costs for individvual businesses. However, the

BDD is not mandated to disburse any type of funding to

Registered Gwich'in Businesses in general. GTC's phi-

losophy is rather than to provide assistance in start up

costs to any one individual business, the preference is to

help build internal capacity for existing and new busi-

nesses so they can be competitive in the products and

services offered to government, oil and gas industry and

the private sector. To provide you with an indication of

initiatives held throughout the year:

® Product Development Workshop - January 2009
sponsored by Industry, Tourism & Investment;

¢ Tourism Business Training Workshop - January
2009 sponsored by Industry, Tourism & Investment;

e NWT Arts Branding Logo Program - March 2009 -
sponsored by Industry, Tourism & Investment;

®  Health, Safety and Environment Policy Development
and On-site Training - sponsored by GTC and Indian
Northern Affairs Canada;

¢ Drug and Alcohol Policy Development — March 2009
- sponsored by GTC and Indian and Northern Affairs
Canada;

® [nuvik Petroleum Show - held annually in Inuvik -
June;
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* Economic Development Officer Training - scheduled
in June 29 - July 3, 2009 in Inuvik - sponsored by
Industry, Tourism and Investment and GTC; and

® Safety Requirements Session - June, 2009 - spon-
sored by NTPC and GTC. Dates to be confirmed.

We also assist government and funding agencies to ad-

vertise and promote warkshops to Registered Gwich'in

Businesses when requested.

Gwich’in Business Development Website - we are
close to finalizing the website. This was a long and
drawn out process. There was been upgrades to the site,
changes to the content and application form. However,
the end result will be improved communications with the
business community on a timely basis.

GTC Rights Issuance Regime: The GTC has been work-
ing with a project management team to complete the 1st
phase to develop a report on the “...Issuance of Oil & Gas
Rights in the Gwich'in Settlement Area.” The report has
been prepared in the context of a positive environment
for the Mackenzie Gas Pipeline and maximizing long term
benefits from Gwich'in non-renewable resources. Cur-
rently, the GTC has no formal process for the issuance of
rights to explore and develop Gwich'in lands within the
GSA. GTC has taken a proactive planning approach for
future purposes that will allow us to be in a better posi-
tion for any oil and gas exploration on Gwich'in lands.

GTC Business Acquisitions: GTC reviewed two (2) po-
tential business acquisitions outside the GSA. At the time
of submission, no action has been taken.

GTC Board Appointments: GTC has a seat on the North-
west Territories Tourism Association Board. We are lob-
bying to have Arts & Crafts - traditional and contempo-
rary along with cultural tourism recognized as an inde-
pendent sector, This will allow for improved marketing
for this sector. Adrii Board of Directors - Aadrii Ltd was
established to recover and distribute residual heat from
the diesel generating plant in Fort McPherson. This has
been a successful initiative.

Long Term Project: All-weather Highway high-level
preliminary work underway to access government fund-
ing to conduct preliminary feasibility work.

Ta conclude, I would like to say thank you our partners in
Government, Industry and Gwich'in businesses who have
contributed to making GTC Business Development De-
partment initiatives a success. President Nerysoo, GDC
Directors and 1 have been working hard to develop a
positive working environment for Gwich'in business to
take advantage of the many economic opportunities
available to Gwich'in business. We understand the Global
markets have had an impact overall on the business com-
munity, but those businesses active today are a result of
the awners hard work and dedication to succeed in a tu-
multuous and fluctuating market.

‘p Gwich’in Tribal Council 2008-2009 Annual Report 2



TRIBAL OPERATIONS - WELLNESS CAMP

From mid June of 2008 the directives of the temporary
Advisory Committee that had been established for the
camp were carried out. These short term (one year) di-
rectives were to locate funding and carry out specific
wellness workshops at the newly opened Gwich'in Well-
ness Camp. The camp runs both wellness workshops as
well as is available as a rental facility for various organi-
zations. From June 2008 until year end and on, the camp
hosted a number of workshops as well as was utilized by
various agencies. We knew the camp was seen as a re-
gional resource when we had people accessing our pro-
grams from both in and outside the Beaufort Delta Re-
gion.

As this was the first year of operations for the camp,
along with the Advisory Directives, there were other im-
portant pieces of work that had to be carried out. Given
that the wellness camp has state of the art machinery,
and water treatment and sewage systems, a specific me-
chanical skill set was required; therefore, the Camp
Maintainer Position had to be a priority. This position
also had unique requirements in terms of the number of
hours required to be physically isolated from town, not
just during worskhops but freeze up and break up as
well. It turned out the position was not for everyone, and

we spent a number of months trying to identify the right
person.

When we carry out workshops or rent the facility to
other agencies we ensure the integrity of the building,
machinery and equipment by including in the rental
package our own staff. This staff shops for groceries,
cooks, cleans and provides the security while the building
is being utilized. There are many varied tasks required to
carry out these workshops, depending on whether we
are traveling by water or by ice road. We were very lucky
to have gathered and trained a great team of individuals.
The success of these workshops has been due to our
dedicated and hardworking team.

Now that many of the operational kinks of the wellness
camp have been worked out, the focus can now be on
long term planning. The long term goals of the temporary
Advisory Committee were programs focused on addic-
tions and family treatment. This will require community
consultation at both a grassroots level as well as coordi-
nating with other key service providers to ensure re-
gional coordination.

Jenifer Johnson
Executive Director
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Executive Summary

The focus of activities for the reporting period 2008-09
has been developing mandates, re-establishing negotiat-
ing team, prioritizing Critical Issues, tabling substantial
MOU Chapters wording, developing an Integrated Nego-
tiations Approach model for Main Table negotiations.

Since early 2009, the Gwich'in Tribal Council (GTC) Self-
Government Negotiations has kept busy advancing the
Integrated Negotiations Approach (INA) model that was
mandated by the Board of Directors, on February 3,
2009. The INA evolved after considerable effort was put
into trying to accommodate the Memorandum of Under-
standing (MOU) provisions that were derived from the
defunct Beaufort Delta Self-Government AIP, and the lack
of Canada’s participation at the Self-Government N egotia-
tions Table,

In order to maintain the momentum of rising community
involvement in the self-government process, the Chief
Negotiator, the Finance Consultant, and the Regional Self-
Government Coordinator (the “Regional Coordinator)
continued to nurture close communications with commu-
nity leadership. This relationship helped ensure commu-
nity interests were expressed, not only in a negotiation
mandate, but in any work related to the development of
an Integrated Negotiations Approach,

Negotiation Support
Main-Table Negotiations

The creation of a Gwich'in Seif-Government Main Table in

April 2006 marked the renewal of a relationship between

the Gwich'in, Canada and the GNWT. This relationship

continues to be characterized by the following:

® Both the Gwich'in and government are obligated un-
der the Gwich'in Comprehensive Land Claims Agree-
ment (the “GCLCA") to negotiate a self-government
agreement; and

® The Gwich'in desire to negotiate a self-government
agreement based on their inherent right of self-
government and to negotiate governing structures
that are exercised as close to the community level as
possible and are appropriate to the needs of the
Gwich'in.

In May 2008, the Chief Negotiators developed a Work-

plan that outlined the timeframes for the negotiations of

various subject matters. Items for negotiation for 2008-

2009 included:

¢ Review of 2003 Beaufort-Delta Self-Government
Agreement-in-Principle;

¢ Development of Gwich'in Governing Structures;

®  Whether or not to include provisions in a final agree-
ment on matters concerning the Indian Act and the
four Gwich'in Indian Act Bands; and

» Other items important for an agreement-in-principle.

On October 1 - 3, 2008, a Gwich'in Self-government Main

Table Negotiation Session was held in Inuvik, NT. The

main topics of discussion were:

e  Financial Principles;

e Summary of Jurisdictions;

® Marriags;

e  Culture and Languages;

® Heritage Resources.

On November 26-28, 2008, a Gwich'in Self-government

Main Table Negotiation Session was held in Inuvik, NT.

The main topics of discussion were:

e Introduction of new GTC Senior Negotiator;

¢ Critical (deal breakers) issues of the parties were
identified as Gwich'in Governance Structures,
Gwich'in Jurisdictions, Financing and Own Source
Revenues, and Implementation and Training
(Capacity Building);

e Workplan adjusted to place the four critical issues
identified in the forefront of Workplan negotiation
schedule.

On December 15-17, 2008, a Gwich'in Self-government

Negotiation Session was held in Whitehorse, YT. The

main topics of discussion were:

e GTC tabled substantial proposed wording to MOU
Chapter 20 (Financing ad Own Source Revenue);

¢ GTC tabled substantial proposed wording to MOU
Chapter 25 (Implementation and Training);

e GTC overview of Gwich'in Jurisdictions and Govern-
ance Structures.

On January 27-29, 2009 a Gwich'in Self-government Ne-

gotiation Session was held in Ft McPherson, NT. The main

topics of discussions were:

® MOU Chapter 20 and 25 wording response from Can-
ada and GNWT;

e Gwich'in Jurisdictions;

e Gwich'in Governing Structures; and

¢ ToR for Indian Act Transition Side Table.

Canada’s Chief Negotiator (CN) was not present at the
negotiating session. His participation was through tele-
conferencing, as he earlier stated that he did not feel
there would be enough to talk about. Prior to Main Table
discussions, the Federal CN notified GTC that Canada had
no response for GTC's proposed wording on Finance,
Own Source Revenue, Implementation and Training. Can-
ada's CN went further to state that they were undertaking
a national review on their fiscal financing policy and that
it would be some time hefore a fiscal mandate was com-
plete.
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On March 23-25, 2009 a Gwich'in Self-government Main

Table Negotiation Session was held in Yellowknife, NT.

Due to shortage of funds, only a handful of Negotiations

Team members attended the negotiation session. The

main points of discussion were:

e Integrated Negotiations Approach (see Gwich'in Self-
Government INA attached);

® GTC Workplan (see GTC Self-Government Negotia-
tions 2009/2010 Workplan attached);

e [ndian Act Transition; and

o  Next Steps.

The Yellowknife March Main Table session went so well,
the agenda items were completed in one and one-half
days, instead of the three days allotted. The GNWT Chief
Negotiator gave his approval-in-principle to the GTC
Workplan and Integrated Negotiation Approach. Canada
did not raise any major objectives and took the INA, un-
der advisement. Canada will get back to Tabie once con-
sultation with peers takes place, The Workplan was
signed off by the three Senior Negotiators.

Main-Table Negotiators

The focus of the Gwich'in Senior Self-Government Nego-
tiator continue to assemble an effective negotiating team,
conduct team strategy workshops, attend and lead regu-
lar scheduled Main Table sessions and teleconference
calls, work with the Negotiation Team Members, Board
and Executive Leadership in developing negotiating posi-
tions and mandates, and coordinate negotiations techni-
cal support staff and community consultations require-
ments.

In June 2008, an Interim Chief Negotiator was appointed
to carry out the duties of a CN until a full-time Senior
Negotiator was in place. In October 2008, a full-time Sen-
jior Self-Government Negotiator was hired. Since then,
formal negotiation sessions have been a monthly basis
with significant movement of materials at the Main Ta-
ble. At the same time, in October 2008, an Interim Chief
Negotiator was appointed to lead the Indian Act Transi-
tion Side Table.

The Senior Negotiator is responsible for identifying and
representing the Gwich'in interests at the Main Table.
The Senior Negotiator keeps appraised of general politi-
cal developments in the area of seif-governing issues.
The Director of Negotiations also filled the duties of an
Assistant Negotiator, who assisted the Chief Negotiator
when required. The Director of Negotiations position
became vacant on January 30, 2009 and remained vacant
for the rest of the reporting period.

Negotiation Side-Table

In 2008, there were three formal sessions of the Indian
Act Transition Side Table that dealt with key issues such
as:

e Terms of Reference;
e Indian Act Issues; and
¢ Protocol.

There were no formal talks held in 2009 on the Indian
Act Transition Side Table due to a shortage of funds. In
addition, a supplementary budget that was submitted to
the Office of INAC Minister Chuck Strahl, on December 11,
2008 and February 5, 2009, to help cover legal and tech-
nical support costs, was not responded to.

At the March 23-25, 2009 Main Table session, Canada

Chief Negotiator made the following statement regarding

Indian Act Transition Side Table issues:

¢ Canada indicated that they do not support two nego-
tiations processes (no two deals);

¢ Canada and GNWT indicated they wanted regular
reporting to Main Table (side table part of Main Ta-
ble); and

¢ Canada would like to see some progress.

A Minister letter re-iterating the above-mentioned con-
cerns was promised by the federal negotiator. GTC re-
ceived no letter.

Negotiation Mandate

The Gwich'in Negotiator continued to work with Gwich'in
Negotiations Team and Leadership to develop negotia-
tion mandates for critical issues within the Gwich'in SGA
process. Through two regional workshops, the Senior
Negotiator and Finance Consultant worked closely with
Community and Regional leadership to complete man-
date reviews on:

¢  MOU Provisions;

Integrated Negotiations Approach;

Aboriginal Governing Structures;

Gwich’in Constitution Framework;

Inherent Right of Self-Government; and

Indian Act transition issues.

The results of the review were:

® MOU be put aside and to continue on with another
approach to attaining an Aboriginal Government;

® AnIntegrated Negotiations Approach be researched
and developed as the GTC negotiations approach to
use;

& GTC Leadership directed the Gwich'in Governing
Structure model must abtain final Community en-
dorsement before tabling;

e The Community Constitutions are in the final stages
of development and will require Community ratifica-
tion;
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e The 2006 Self Government Negotiations Mandate
that includes the “mission to assert Gwich'in inherent
right to govern themselves, and to continue to sur-
vive as Gwich'in according to their traditions, lan-
guage and culture,” be maintained in negotiations;
and

¢ Indian Act Band status continues to be researched
and dealt with at the indian Act Transition Side Ta-
ble.

Communications and Consultation

Since taking more control of its self-government process
in 2004, the Gwich'in Tribal Council has focused on in-
creasing its level of self-government communications and
consultations with Gwich'in community members. In
order to maintain a high level of community involvement
in the negotiation process and in order to ensure that
Gwich’in community interest are well represented at the
Main Table, the Gwich'in Negotiators developed a nego-
tiation team that allow for a clear line of communication
between community leadership, residents and negotia-
tion team members. The Gwich'in Negotiation Team in-
clude:

One Chief/Senior Negotiator

One Negotiations Director;

One Regional Coordinator;

Four Gwich'in Chiefs;

Four Community DGO President representatives; and
Four Community Elders Representatives,

The Negotiation Team members met with the Senior Ne-
gotiator and Assistant Negotiator for at least three days
prior to each Main Table Negotiation session. The com-
munity negotiation representatives attend all Main Table
negotiation sessions and report back to their community
leadership and members (Self-Government Committees
or Designated Gwich’in Organizations).

In order to maintain the momentum of rising
community involvement in the self-government process,
the Senior Negotiator, the Assistant Negotiator, and the
Regional Self-Government Coordinator (the “Regional
Coordinator) continued to nurture close communications
with community leadership and membership. This en-
sured that community interests were expressed not only
in negotiation mandates but in any work related to the
development to of a Integrated Negotiations Approach
model.

Negotiation Support

In order to maintain leadership and community focus
towards the development of a self-government agree-
ment-in-principle, the Gwich'in Senior Negotiator re-
quired the full support of an Assistant Negotiator and
Regional Coordinator, the part-time support of 12 Com-

munity Negotiators, and external contract expertise. The

Negotiation Team Members are:

e highly motivated to each task presented;

e alarge group of TK experts;

¢  highly knowledgeable of the Gwich'in culture and
traditions; and

® very committed to the attaining a fair and equitable

¢ Self-Government Agreement.

in addition, the GTC Negotiations Department has used

the expertise of;

® Mr. Lew Voytilla for financing and Program & Ser-
vices advice;

®  Mr. Alex McCrae for compiling Comparison Charts:
and

®  Mr, Brian Crane for legal advice.

Gathering Strength
Building a Gwich’in Government

Gwich'in leadership has provided the Gwich'in negotia-
tors with specific timelines for the completion of a
Gwich'in constitutional framework However, the
Gwich'in 2008 Annual Assembly did not endorse Commu-
nity Censtitutions or Governance Structure model. More
community consultation is required. Once final consulta-
tion has been conducted, the Gwich'in Leadership will
ratify final documents before tabling to other Govern-
ment parties. The Senior Negotiator and Assistant Nego-
tiator will continue to oversee research, consultation, and
the development of negotiation mandates relating to the
following issues:

* Traditional governance: Models have been completed
and taken door-to-door within the GSA. However, no
community endorsement has been obtained for a
position to be tabled.

e Negotiations mandate: the 2006 Self-Government
Negotiations Mandate is the current document that
has been approved and enacted for negotiations pur-
poses.

® Review of Beaufort-Delta Self-Government Agree-
ment-in-Principle: in December 2008, the GTC tabled
extensive proposed wording for Chapters 20
(Financing and Own Source Revenues) and 25
{(Implementation and Training). Marriage, Culture
and Languages, Guardianship and Trusteeship, Heri-
tage Resources, Financial Principles are work-in-
progress by Table Negotiators. In January 2009, the
MOU (old AIP) was set aside due to wording conflict.
An Integrated Negotiations Approach model was
adopted for negotiations of an SGA..
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TRIBAL OPERATIONS - SELF-GOVERNMENT

Jurisdiction authority; At the December negotiation e Gwich'in Charter of Rights: a comprehensive Charter
session, GTC informed the other Parties that GTC have been developed and taken to communities for
jurisdictions under inherent right are those listed door-to-door consultation campaign, in 2007. How-
under Section 16 of the Northwest Territories Act and ever, no formal endorsement has been attained dur-
Sections 91 and 92 of the Constitution Act, 1982. ing reporting period.
Government seif-government policy; ¢  Other matters arising from the Main Table: in Decem-

ber 2008, meetings were held with CN of other Abo-
Indian Act application to participants and Indian Act riginal Claimant Groups within the NWT. The pur-
band members: an Indian Act Transition Side Table pose of the meeting was to information share
has been actively meeting with Canada’s CN regard- amongst the parties with common interests.
ing the logistics of the Side Tahble, However, due to
lack of funds, the Side Table has been inactive for the
last quarter of reporting period.
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GWICH'IN ENROLMENT BOARD

MEMBERS GSA 1,687
Tsiigehtchic 131

» Mary Ann Ross, Chair Fort McPherson 674

» Billie Lennie, Inuvik Aklavik 178

e Anna May McLeod, Tsiigehtchic Inuvik 704

» Leanne Nerysoo, Aklavik

s Robert Alexie Sr., Fort McPherson OUTSIDE GSA 1,596

e Cheryl Wright, Coordinator Edmonton 268
Yellowknife 255

ENROLMENT Whitehorse 150
Hay River 65

Enrolled Participants 3,282 Fort Smith 68

Aduits 2,278 Remainder across Canada, in France,

18-years and under 1,004 Greece, Australia, and the

USA
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The Gwich'in Social and Cultural Institute {GSCI) was
established in 1993 as a non-profit society with charita-
ble status and a mandate to document, preserve and pro-
mote the practice of Gwich'in culture, language, tradi-
tional knowledge and values. The GSCI is the cultural and
heritage arm of the GTC that also includes the Gwich’in
Language Centre that is responsible for the Gwich'in Lan-
guage Plan and the development of language resource
materials for Gwich'in language teachers. The GSCI 5-
year plan (2006-2010) and the GSCI Board directs the
heritage and language projects of the institute.

Administration

The administration and day-to-day operation of the GSCI
is the responsibility of Sharon Snowshoe, Executive Di-
rector. In this capacity she oversees items related to hu-
man resources (i.e. leave forms, staff training, hiring of
staff, etc.); contribution agreements for core funding,
heritage and language projects, and project reports; fi-
nancial responsibilities related to contribution agree-
ments, budgets, and quarterly financial statements;
board and staff meeting logistics and minutes; and acts as
the liaison between GTC and GSCI (i.e. staff meetings).

Heritage Projects

Since 1993, GSCI has carried out GTC responsibilities for
implementing heritage matters outlined in Chapter 25 of
the Land Claim and Chapter 9 of the Trans-boundary
Agreement. GSCI has also provided input into the devel-
opment of the Gwich'in Land Use Plan (Chapter 24) and
the Gwich'in Territorial Park management plan (Chapter
16). Because of its’ heritage research, GSCI is able to pro-
vide advice on land use permit applications from the GLA
and GLWB in regards to possible impact on heritage re-
sources through access and development in the GSA
{Chapters 20, 21, & 24). GSCI has also provided input
into self-government negotiations concerning Gwich'in
culture and language (Chapter 5 & Appendix B}. In the
Yukon Trans-boundary Area, GSCI has also provided in-
put into the Land Use Planning and Protection of the Peel
River Watershed (Chapter 7}, and Development Assess-
ment (Chapter 8),

The heritage activities reported below are based on a
report prepared by Ingrid Kritsch, Research Director, for
the GSCI Board Meeting held in Aklavik on November 21,
2008 and updated to reflect the heritage activities car-
ried out by GSCI for the period April 1 - March 31, 2009.

ARI Vegetation-Caribou-Wolf Food Chain Contract

The Aurora Research Institute (ARI) in Inuvik contracted
GSCI to carry cut TK interviews with Elders in Dawson
City (Percy Henry and Julia Morberg) and Fort McPher-
son (Robert Alexie Sr. and Woody Elias) related to the
vegetation-caribou-wolf food chain. Vuntut Gwich'in Eld-
ers (Freddy Frost, Joel Peter and Stan Njootli) were inter-

viewed by Mary Jane Moses from Old Crow. The overall
goal of the ARI research was “to see if a certain type of
contaminant, namely fluorinated chemicals, bio-
accumulate in biota, increasing their concentrations as
you go up the vegetation-caribou-wolf food chain.” The
objective of the TK part of the research was to document
the feeding and preying habits of wolves, the relative im-
portance of caribou in wolves' diet, the composition and
seasonality of wolves’ diets, wolves’ prey preference, the
compasition and seasconality of caribou diet, and caribou
and wolf oral history.

Interviews were carried out in Ft. McPherson, 0ld Crow
and Dawson City between fanuary 25 and February 13,
2009, The interviews were transcribed by Kristi Benson
for the Gwich'in Social & Cultural Institute and reviewed
by Margaret Thompson before being provided to Sharon
Katz at the ARI. The final report will be presented at the
Northern Contaminants Program 2009 results workshop.

CBC Radio Legacy Project

The GSCI in partnership with CBC Radio recorded
Gwich'in legends for the CBC Radio Legacy Project with
the goal of producing radio dramas for broadcast. In early
July, Alestine Andre and Leah Shaw recorded Elders
Elizabeth Greenland (Inuvik), Mary Kendi (Aklavik), An-
nie Norbert and Gabe Andre (Tsiigehtchic), and Eunice
Mitchell (Fort McPherson) telling legends about Atachuu-
kaii, Deetrin’, Diniizhok, Ahts’an Veh, Naagaii Tsal and
Kwan Ehdan, and Nehtryuh. The legends were initially
translated by Alestine and provided to the scriptwriter,
Barbara Worthy, who then developed five radio dramas.
Once completed, these plays were translated and tran-
scribed into Gwich'in by William George Firth and joanne
Snowshoe. In the early part of February, a call was put
out for auditions, and actors ranging in age from 7 to the
mid-70s were hired to record the plays in both Gwich'in
and English at the CBC studio in Inuvik. Karen Mitchell
was hired as the Gwich'in language coach. The plays will
be broadcast nationally on the CBC Radio program
“ldeas” in October 2009. They will also be broadcast lo-
cally on CBC North radio. CDs of these radio plays will
also be produced for GSCI to distribute. An elder’s story-
telling workshop is currently being planned for the win-
ter as part of this project and a way to help us celebrate
our 15th Anniversary,

Dempster Highway Grave Signage

The Yukon Department of Tourism and Culture has pro-

duced the signs and we are awaiting a response from the
Teetl'it Gwich'in Council as to where they would like the
signs erected in the Yukon along the Dempster Highway.
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Dene Nation Mapping Project - Conservation of Maps
and Tapes

GSCI secured funding from the Cumulative Impact Moni-
toring Program to conserve the remaining paper maps
(conservation of these maps began several years ago)
and transcribe Dene Nation land use tapes from the Dene
Mapping Project carried out in the 1970s. Additionally,
GSCI trails and other heritage data from the Teetl'it
Gwich'in area were digitized into the Gwich'in Social &
Cultural Institute’s GIS. Numerous GSCI interview maps
were scanned for this purpose. This work was carried
out during the winter of 2009 by Susan Cross
(conservator) and Kristi Benson.

Dene Nation Mapping Project - Transcription of
Tapes

Nine of the Dene Mapping Project interviews digitized in
2007 by Nadira Begg were transcribed by Kristi Benson
and are being translated /reviewed by Margaret Thomp-
son. The interviews were carried out in the 1970s with
such Gwich'in Elders as Jim Edwards, Julianne Andre,
Amos Niditchie, Roddy Peters, Jimmy Thompson and Neil
Colin, A further five Dene Mapping Project interviews
from the 19705 were transcribed during the 2008-2009
project. The tapes relate to the mapping of trails and
traplines conducted by Neil Colin with Elders from Fort
McPherson, Inuvik, Aklavik, and Tsiigehtchic.

Headwaters of the Arctic Red River: Community
Meeting

In July 2008, Kristi Benson visited Tsiigehtchic with Uni-
versity of Calgary archaeologist Dr. Brian Kooyman to
discuss the results of the archaeological research con-
ducted in 2007 in the Headwaters of the Arctic Red River.
A PowerPoint presentation was made to the monthly
meeting of the Tsiigehtchic Renewable Resource Council,
The members were interested in the results and re-
quested further archaeology work be conducted around
the area of Ddhahzhit Gwitsal, where the Cranswick
River leaves the mountains. Also discussed was the pos-
sibility of researching ice patches in the area.

During this trip, and at the request of the community,
Kristi and Brian mapped the old graveyard. Pending is a
complete map of the area and a final report of this survey
work, Each grave was recarded on a form in the same
way that the new graveyard was recorded in 2005.

Also at the request of the community, Kristi and Brian
gathered human remains (skeleton) that were eroding
out of the banks of the Arctic Red River from the area
around the new graveyard. These bones were re-
interred into the graveyard following a simple re-burial
service by Father Matthew. A report on these findings is
forthcoming,

A river trip up the Mackenzie River was partially funded
by the money left over from the archaeology project. The
river trip focused on taking pictures and GPS coordinates
of Gwich'in named places along the river. Elder Gabe An-
dre was recorded discussing the trading post at the
mouth of Travaillant River,

Genographic Project

GSCI assisted Dr. Theodore (Tad) Schurr with providing
information about the proposed project to the Gwich'in
communities of Tsiigehtchic and Fort McPherson in April
2008. A meeting scheduled for Inuvik was cancelled due
to bad weather. The Genographic Project, a landmark
study of the human journey launched in 2005, is seeking
to chart new knowledge about the migratory history of
human species by using sophisticated laboratory and
computer analysis of DNA contributed by hundreds of
thousands of people from around the world.

Resolutions and letters of support for the project have
now been received by GSCI from the Gwichya Gwich'in
Council, Teetl'it Gwich'in Council and the Gwich’in Tribal
Council, so the research can proceed in future,

Geographic Information System Workshop

Ingrid Kritsch and Kristi Benson met in Yellowknife at the
Research Office from September 15-19 to review the GSCI
Teetl'it Gwich'in place names and associated GIS data,
Over 390 place name records were reviewed and map
information compared with entries in the Access data-
base and GIS to identify gaps and further work needed.

Gwich'in Ethnobotany Module for GSCI Website

With the assistance of the GTC, GSCI secured funding
from the MacArthur Foundation to develop a new module
for its website based on Ethnobotany research carried
out by Alestine Andre and Alan Fehr. Alestine Andre and
Ingrid Kritsch worked with Outcrop to develop this mod-
ule, We also took this opportunity to update the GSCI
website during the fall/winter of 2008-2009. The ethno-
botany module will be launched in mid-April.

Historic Places Initiative (HPI) Projects

GSClI accessed HP! funding from the GNWT Cultural
Places Program to carry out three community projects; 1)
the Black Mountain and Big Eddy project in Aklavik; 2)
the Khaii Luk Tshik and Teetshik Goghaa [old Arctic Red
site) project in Tsiigehtchic; and 3) the Nataiinlaii bound-
ary project in Fort McPherson. These places were previ-
ously identified by the Community Steering Committees
responsible for identifying significant heritage sites in the
Aklavik, Tsiigehtchic and Fort McPherson areas. The
nominations for the new sites in Aklavik and Tsiigehtchic,
and the boundary for Nataiinlaii were submitted to the
Cultural Places Program by March 31, 2009.
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These projects were worked on by Sharon Snowshoe,
Kristi Benson, Ingrid Kritsch and Alestine Andre.

James Jerome Photo Collection Project

GSCI partnered with the NWT Archives to identify peo-
ple, places and activities recorded in photos taken by
James Jerome in the 1970s, A series of workshops was
held with Elders over the course of the winter to help
with these identifications. The workshops were con-
ducted by Alestine Andre and Ingrid Kritsch in December
2008 in Tsiigehtchic and Fort McPherson. From Tsiige-
htchic, the Elders included: Noel Andre, John Norbert,
Eileen Cardinal, Douglas Kendo and Bob Norman from
Tsiigehtchic. From Fort McPherson, the Elders included:
Robert Alexie Sr,, Walter Alexie, Mary M. Firth, Mary
Teya, Bertha Francis, Jane Charlie Sr., Doris Itsi, and Jo-
seph Kay.An interview about Gwich'in fish camps was
also recorded during these workshops with Gwichya
Gwich'in harvesters, and transcribed. Other individuals
who were of great assistance with the identifications
were: Freddy and Sarah Jerome and Lawrence Norbert.

Peel River Palaeontological Research

Sharon Snowshoe and Ingrid Kritsch assisted palaeon-
tologists Dr. Grant Zazula (Yukon Paleontologist} and Dr.
David Evans (Royal Ontario Museum) with obtaining
support, licences and research agreements needed to
carry out their field work. The palaeontological research
was carried out in the Bonnet Plume River area from Au-
gust 7-11, 2008. A student from Fort McPherson was
identified to participate in this project but due to unfore-
seen circumstances was not able to take part. The palae-
ontologists revisited the location where three dinosaur
bones were recovered in the 1960s. Poor weather condi-
tions and difficulty in accessing the outcrop resulted in
limited research.

Although no fossil bones were recovered, samples of vol-
canic ash beds and abundant plant fossils that likely post-
date when the dinosaurs became extinct ca. 60-65 million
years ago were found. The plant remains include leaves
and stems from horse tails, redwood trees, and Ginkgo
trees. The plant fossils are currently being identified and
analyzed at the University of Alberta as they will provide
a better understanding of the environmental conditions
in the Arctic after the dinosaurs became extinct. The vel-
canic ash beds are being analyzed to provide information
on when volcanic activity took place.

Peel Watershed Heritage Inventory

The GSCI and Yukon Department of Tourism and Culture
conducted a preliminary helicopter survey of heritages
sites within the Peel River watershed from July 21 to 24,
2008. Included in the survey were: Fort McPherson Elder
Walter Alexie, Ingrid Kritsch (GSCI Research Director),
Dr. Ruth Gotthardt (Yukon Archaeologist), Greg Hare

(Site Assessment Archaeologist), and Barbara Hogan
(Historic Sites Registrar), The goal of the survey was to
identify and record traditional Teetl'it Gwich'in sites, and
historic and archaeological sites in the Peel River drain-
age, concentrating on the Hart, Wind and Bonnet Plume
rivers. This research will assist in identifying significant
heritage values as part of the Peel Watershed Planning
Commission Land Use Planning process. Prior to the
fieldwork, Kristi Benson provided maps of the area so
ingrid could take photos of named places they were visit-
ing or travelling over to add to GSCI's place name photo
archives.

Steppe Bison Fossil Find

The steppe bison remains were turned over to the
PWNHC by Shane Van Loon in late April 2008. The
PWNHC in consultation with the community of Tsiige-
htchic and GSCl, is developing a plan for study and pres-
ervation of the remains, and educating Northerners about
the discovery. To date we have learned that the remains
are 11,830 +/-45 years ald. Hair samples sent for DNA
analysis have enough DNA in them to provide further
information. The GSCI will continue to act as the commu-
nity liaison regarding this matter,

Teetl'it Gwich'in Place Names Atlas Project

[n January 2008, we submitted a major funding applica-
tion to the International Polar Year (IPY) to produce a
print-based and web-based atlas for the place names and
stories of the Teetl'it Gwich'in over a 3 year period. Pro-
posed partners in this work included the Teetl'it Gwich'in
Council, Teetl'it Gwich'in Elder's Council, Teetl'it Gwich'in
RRC, PWNHC and Chief Julius School. In early June we
received a letter saying that the proposal was not se-
lected for funding. The letter explained that “This was a
highly competitive process and a large number of excel-
lent proposals were submitted. The selection process
took into account several factors, including the geo-
graphical location of the projects, the variety of different
types of projects and a balance of small and large initia-
tives. It was a very difficult task to choose from the many
submissions received.” We will look for other sources of
funding to carry out this initiative.

Teetl'it Gwich'in Place Names (TGPN) 2008 project

The eleven taped interviews recorded with Teetl'it
Gwich'in Elders in February/March 2008 by Alestine An-
dre, Bertha Francis and Ingrid Kritsch were translated
and transcribed by William Firth, Kristi Benson and An-
nie Jane Modeste. We still need to clarify information on
some of the maps. The maps from the project have been
scanned and entered into the GSCI Geographic Informa-
tion System (GIS).
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Implementation of Gwich'in Land Claim
Historical Resources Act (NWT)

Early in September, Ingrid Kritsch reviewed information
and researched proposed changes to the Act and how
these might impact the Gwich’in Comprehensive Land
Claim Agreement and forwarded her findings to Sharon
Snowshoe to pass on to the GTC. The changes looked to
be just a housekeeping issue on the part of GNWT. The
Act is being revised to eliminate the Historical Advisory
Board. This board has not been in operation for 25 years,
and all of the responsibilities given to them in the Act are
being carried out by the Department of Education, Cul-
ture and Employment through the PWNHC,

Land Use Permit, Archaeological Permit and Scien-
tific Research Licence Applications

GSCI continues to review land use applications for-
warded from GTC and the Gwich'in Land and Water
Board for their possible impacts on heritage resources in
the Gwich'in Settlement Area. GSCI also continues to re-
view Archaeological Permit Applications made to the
PWNHC and Scientific Research Licence Applications
made to the Aurora Research Institute for research
within the GSA.

Peel Watershed Planning Commission

From August - October, Ingrid provided comments on
the Commission’'s Resource Assessment Report and
worked with Kristi to provide place name and heritage
data for maps being prepared by the Commission. The
heritage data provided was used during the drafting of
the plan.

Staff Training and Meetings

Access Database Training

In late September and mid-January, Alestine Andre and
Ingrid Kritsch attended two one-day training sessions at
Tamarack Computers in Yellowknife for the database
program called Access. This database program will re-
place the FileMaker Pro program GSCI has used to date
for the place names and other data.

Dene Fonts Workshop

in late August, Ingrid Kritsch attended a meeting in Yel-
lowknife with William Firth about the fonts issue with
the GNWT, linguist/software programmers and other
Aboriginal groups to see how the GNWT should proceed
with the problems everyone is facing. A follow-up meet-
ing is expected to be held during the coming spring.

Federal Assistant Deputy Ministers’ Visit

Early in June, GSCI staff prepared and presented an over-
view of GSCI and chailenges and issues that we encounter
in our heritage research and language work to Federal
Assistant Deputy Ministers' visit to Inuvik as part of their
leadership training.

Heritage Canada Foundation and Canadian Land
Trust Alliance Conference

In late September, Ingrid Kritsch assisted Alestine Andre
to prepare a PowerPoint presentation that Ms. Andre
presented to a Quebec City conference called, "Work that
Endures: Power to the People Keeping Places Alive.”

Other Activities

Articles/Books on Gwich'in

In April/May, Erika Kritsch and Linda Wright prepared a
bibliography of articles on the Gwich'in that Ingrid
Kritsch had been collecting and putting into binders since
1993. Ingrid provided this bibliography and copies of
these articles in 2 volumes to Gwich'in beneficiary Geor-
die Hungerford. Copies of these valumes were also sent
to GSCl offices in Tsiigehtchic and Fort McPherson. These
volumes contain most of the “classic” articles on the
Gwich'in by authors outside of GSCI. In the summer,
Ingrid provided the GNWT with copies of several of our
publications including “The History and Archaeclogy of
Fort McPherson” and the “Gwichya Gwich'in Googwan-
dak” as GNWT gifts for the Premier of Quebec. They were
so pleased with them, that they ordered more copies of
our publications for several libraries in Quebec.

Bill C-51At the GTC Annual General Assembly held in
August in Fort McPherson, a concern was raised by Her-
bert Blake about Bill C-51 relating to the use of tradi-
tional knowledge and natural health products. Using the
internet, Ingrid Kritsch researched the proposed bill and
amendments and provided this information to Sharon
Snowshoe to forward to the GTC.

GSCI Archival Photographs

From April through Navember, Ingrid provided photo-
graphs to the following: State of California EEI Curricu-
lum called, “Many Voices, Many Visions: Analyzing Con-
temporary Environmental Issues” (11th grade unit); The
Canadian Encyclopedia article on Aboriginal Cultural
Landscapes by Susan Buggey; The Canadian Encyclopedia
article on Nagwichoonjik NHS; Gwich'in Steering Com-
mittee, Gwich'in Gathering in Old Crow presentation;
PWNHC Historic Places Initiative report; Larry Greenland
and family (photos of the Blackstone area that his mother
lived in when she was young); Gwich'in Career Brochure.
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GSCI Career Brochure

In November, GSCI staff reviewed and provided photo-
graphs for this brochure which was designed by Kellett
Communications. The brochure is intended to give
Gwich'in beneficiaries information about GSCI positions
and the education and training needed to fulfill these po-
sitions.

GSCI 15th Anniversary Celebrations

In the fall, GSCI staff assisted Sharon Snowshoe, Execu-
tive Director, with promotion of GSCI's anniversary by
suggesting gifts to order and by advertising this occasion.
The date of Wednesday, December 17, 2008 was selected
for the community celebrations to take place.

Mi'gmagq Request for Information

Early in November, Ingrid Kritsch received a request for
information from the Mi'gmawei Mawiomi Secretariat in
Listuguj, Quebec about how the Gwich'in have selected
sites for commemoration in the GSR, as they are inter-
ested in doing the same on their traditional lands. They
were also interested in guidelines/protocols for conduct-
ing archaeological research with First Nations. Ingrid
provided them with information based on our experience
with working on National Historic Sites and NWT His-
toric Sites along with our TK Policy and information on
guidelines/protocols/ethics for conducting archaeclogi-
cal research with First Nations.

Nagwichoonjik National Historic Site

The Canadian Encyclopedia approached Ingrid Kritsch to
write a short article and provide photographs about Nag-
wichoonjik NHS as an example of an Aboriginal Cultural
Landscape. Ingrid completed this work in May/June
2008. This article is a companion to another article in
The Canadian Encyclopedia on Aboriginal Cultural Land-
scapes by Susan Buggey.

Rat River Char Traditional Knowledge Reporting

The Gwich'in Renewable Resource Board has contracted
the GSCI to compile traditional knowledge data from in-
terviews they conducted during 2008 about Dolly Varden
char in the Rat River watershed. The GSCI is reviewing
the data and will write two reports: one summary report
from the interview transcripts, and another report for
the COSEWIC process.

Language Projects

The activity reported prepared by William Firth, Lan-
guage Manager, outlines the language activities carried
out by GSCI for the period April 2008 - March 2009,

e Gwich'in Language Plan

The current language activities include {1) the Gwich'in
Language Dictionary (2) the Gwich’in Elders' Bibliogra-
phy Project, and (3) the Gwich'in Language Classes.

¢ The Gwich'in Language Dictionary

The focus has shifted on this project so that Eleanor
Mitchell-Firth will work on the Gwich’in Topical Diction-
ary. Eleanor worked previously as the Language Centre
Coordinator for the Gwich'in Language Centre in the
early 1990s. With her assistance, the Gwich'in Topical
Dictionary will be published by the end of this fiscal year,
March 2009. Chris Harvey, Linguist with the Indigenous
Languages Institute, is presently assisting us with the
dictionary format.

¢ The Gwich'in Elders’ Biography Project

With much documented knowledge, stories and legends
filed away at the Gwich'in Language Centre from Gwich'in
Elders since 1970, it is necessary to dedicate a book to
the memory of our Elders and include their life history.
Margaret Thompson was hired to take on this project to
write their stories that can be used as an educational tool
within the communities and the education system. In
order to do an excellent job on each biography, we would
like to extend the publication of such a booklet to a future
date. This project will be on going as funding permits.

Development of language resource materials

The 2nd Language Curriculum continues to be piloted in
the Beaufort-Delta schocls. Progress is on-going in the
development and production of resource materials for
the 2nd Language Curriculum which the Language In-
structors have adapted easily into their language instruc-
tion. Edward Wright, Resource Coordinator, has been
directly involved with the curriculum and the Language
Instructors on a daily basis since he began working on
this project. Over the past year, Grade 1, 4, and 7 content
was reviewed in Teetl’it Zheh (Fort McPherson). The
session went well again in that most grade levels were
standardized. Local Elders, fluent language speakers,
were involved as they assisted and guided the work. It
was well received by all in attendance and it was also a
pleasure to have staff of the Beaufort-Delta Education
Council, in attendance observing the process and provid-
ing clarification of language structure and content as
needed. Margaret Thompson has been a wonderful,
knowledgeable addition to the Gwich'in Teaching and
Learning Centre under theTargeted Initiative Older
Worker Program which is jointly funded by the Federal
and Government of the NWT. Since Margaret's arrival at
the Teaching and Learning Centre, Edward has worked at
scheduling classroom site visits to the communities to
introduce Margaret as an additional support person for
the Language Instructors and she is getting up to speed
with the curriculum content delivery and with the vari-
ous tools and equipment required in delivery of the cur-
riculum delivery.

GSCI Business Cards

Ingrid worked with GSCI staff and Qutcrop Ltd. to design
new business cards for staff. These cards were available
in December.
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Operations

This section will include operations, GSCI staff, and f-
nances related to the operation and admin istration of the
GSCI program.

Five Year Plan

The Gwich'in Social & Cultural Institute (GSCI) has re-
quested that the Gwich'in Tribal Council do an organiza-
tional review of the GSCl and amend the constitution and
by-laws, The GSCI worked with RT Associates Ltd. to re-
view and update the Strategic Analysis and Five Year
Business Plan called lindo Khehlok Tr'eedah: Moving For-
ward as One, 2006 to 2010. A revised five year plan was
developed and approval by the Gwich'in Tribal Council
board of directors. A two year review took place in
March 2009 by the GSCI Board of Directors in Tsiige-
htchic.

GSCI Staff

Executive Director

Sharon Snowshoe currently holds this full time position.
Core funding from the CECP and the Gwich’in Tribal
Council assists in funding this position, plus funding from
specific projects. This position is responsible for the over-
all management of the GSCI taking direction from the
Board of Directors and implementing decisions.

Research Director

Ingrid Kritsch currently holds this full-time position. Core
funding from the Gwich'in Tribal Council assists in fund-
ing this position, plus funding from specific projects. This
position is responsible for the Heritage Research Pro-
gram and supervises the Heritage Researcher, and man-
apes the Yellowknife office.

Language Manager

William G. Firth holds this full time position. Funding is
sought on a year to year basis in order to fund this posi-
tion. Core funding from the GNWT assists in funding this
position, plus funding from specific Projects. This posi-
tion is responsible for language and cultural projects and
supervises the Linguist Trainee, the casual Research As-
sistant Trainee and the Resource Coordinator and man-
ages the Gwich'in Language Centre.

Heritage Researcher

Alestine Andre currently holds this full-time position.
Currently, funding from the Gwich'in Implementation
Fund and core funding from the Gwich'in Tribal Council
assists in funding this position. This position works with
the Research Director on heritage-related projects.

Resource Coordinator

Edward Wright currently holds this full-time posi-
tion. Core funding from the Beaufort Delta Educa-
tion Council and GNWT assists in funding this posi-
tion. This position works under the direction of the
Language Manager on research and resource devel-
opment based on Inuvialuit/Gwich'in curriculum.
This funding has been allocated to the implementa-
tion of the 2nd language curriculum.

Linguist Trainee

Mary Clark held the Linguist Trainee position from
June 2006 to April 3, 2009. Core funding from the
GNWT and funding from the Dene Nation Aboriginal
Language Initiatives (ALI) program assists in fund-
ing this position. This position works under the di-
rection of the Language Manager on the Gwich'in
Language Dictionary and Gwich'in Elders Biogra-
phies projects

Resource Coordinator

Edward Wright currently holds this full-time position.
Core funding from the Beaufort Delta Education Council
and GNWT assists in funding this position. This position
works under the direction of the Language Manager on
research and resource development based on Inuvialuit/
Gwich'in curriculum. This funding has been allocated to
the implementation of the 2nd language curriculum.

Linguist Trainee

Mary Clark held the Linguist Trainee position from June
2006 to April 3, 2009, Core funding from the GNWT and
funding from the Dene Nation Aboriginal Language Ini-
tiatives (AL} program assists in funding this position.
This position works under the direction of the Language
Manager on the Gwich'in Language Dictionary and
Gwich'in Elders Biographies projects.

GSCI Board of Directors

Mary Ann Ross, Chair - Gwich'in Tribal Council

Anna May MacLeod - Tsiigehtchic

Gladys Alexie - Fort McPherson

Annie Jane Modeste - Fort McPherson

Renie Stewart - Aklavik

Ruth Wright - Inuvik

Sarah McLeod-Firth - Inuvik; alternate member
Elizabeth M. Hansen
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GWICH'IN SOCIAL & CULTURAL INSTITUTE

® Finances

NOTES FOR PROJECTED BUDGET 2008/2009 FISCAL
YEAR

Revenue

Gwich'in Tribal Council - Core Funding

We receive $300,000.00 in core funding to cover basic
administration and salaries of the Gwich'in Social and
Cultural Institute, This fiscal year, the funding is allocated
to the Heritage Research Division of GSCI for wages and
administration expenses, and to Administration costs
such as Board expenses.

Gwich'in Tribal Council - Implementation Heritage
Funding

GSCI receives $25,000.00 per annum and this fiscal year,
the funding has been allocated to the Heritage Research
Division to carry out research projects,

Government of Canada - Indian and Northern Affairs
GSCI receives approximately $38,564.00 funds allocated
under the CECP program and allocated to cover a portion
of salaries for the Executive Director and Heritage Re-
searcher and office supplies.

GNWT - Education, Culture & Employment

GSCI receives $50,000.00 in funding to cover a portion of
salaries and rent for the GSCI office in Tsiigehtchic.
GNWT - Language Implementation

GSCI receives $162,000.00 to implement the Gwich’in
Language Plan. This funding covers the majority of ad-
ministration and salary for the Language Manager and
Linguist Trainee. It also covers all program costs for the
Gwich'in Language Dictionary, and Gwich'in Elders’ Biog-
raphies. Additional funding from Dene Nation in the
amount of $40,000.00 and GNWT Literacy of $30,000.00
is received to supplement the programs under Language
Implementation and Beaufort Delta Education Council.

Beaufort-Delta Education Council

Funds allocated for the Gwich'in Language Centre in Fort
McPherson, $90,000.00 will be received from BDEC for
the period of July 1 to June 30 because these are the dates
of their fiscal year. Funds cover basic administration of
the Language Centre, salary for one position, and sup-
plies. This year there was a decrease in funding from
$115,000.00 and the budget would have to reflect this
decease. This funding was reinstated to $115,000.00
from$90,000.00 after lobbying efforts were raised by the
Gwich'in Tribal Council leadership.

Project Revenue

We hope that throughout the year we can put in more
proposals and get approval to work on more projects
that will reduce the percentage of deferred revenue we

will use. This will allow us to carry on full operations in
2008/09.
other miscellaneous revenue,

wages are calculated for six staff positions and one cas-
ual staff for a total of approximately $628,487.00, Bene-
fits include housing allowance, VTA, employer's contribu-
tions of EI, CPP, and WCB, extended medical/insurance,
RRSP and fuel subsidies.

Professional Expenses
Cost for consultants, insurance, legal and audit fees.

Other Revenue

This includes revenue from sale of publications, admini-
stration income (charge out fees}, and other miscellane-
ous revenue.

Expenditures

Wages - Salaries and Benefits

Salaries and wages are calculated for six staff positions
and one casual staff for a total of approximately
$628,487.00. Benefits include housing allowance, VTA,
employer’s contributions of EI, CPP, and WCB, extended
medical/insurance, RRSP and fuel subsidies,

Professional Expenses
Cost for consultants, insurance, legal and audit fees,

Board Meeting Expenses

The Board of Directors meets four times per fiscal year.
As well, working committees may be formed to assist in
specific tasks such as budgeting, and strategic planning.
This category includes expenses for directors, committee
members and other honorarig, their travel, accommoda-
tion and meal expenditures incurred for the purpose of
these meetings, Also included are the costs incurred of
the rental of meeting rooms.

Project Expenses

All costs related to work on specific projects.
Administration

This category includes all administrative expenses for the
offices in Tsiigehtchic, Fort McPherson, and Yellowknife.
Expenses include training, plus office supplies, postage
and courier, telephone/fax/internet, office rent, com-
puter equipment and software, management travel,
meals and accommodation, staff travel, photocopying and
other related administrative expenses.
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GWICH'IN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

.Our Mandate

The mandate of Gwich'in Development Corporation
("GDC"} is to pursue commercial opportunities that will
earn our shareholder, Gwich'in Tribal Council, an accept-
able rate of return on its investment. In addition, the Cor-
poration promotes the training and employment of the
membership in the operation of these businesses. All
businesses are operated in an environmentally friendly
manner.

Our Investment Portfolio

Over the last fiscal year, there has been a decline in the
value of GDC's investment holdings. The decline can be
attributed to the economic downturn faced in external
markets this year.,

During the year, GDC acquired the remaining outstanding
shares of GTM Enviro Services Ltd. In addition, on No-
vember 1, 2007, GDC entered into an agreement with the
owners of Bob's Welding and Heavy Equipment Rentals
Ltd. to purchase 51% of the company which was finalized
and effective June 16, 2008, Management is currently
considering whether or not to dispose of its interests in
Gwich'in MAC Ltd. and Gwich'in Ensign Oilfield Services
Inc.

Overall Results

On a consolidated basis, GDC reported the following re-
sults for the year ended December 31, 2008:

Assets increased from $43.3 million in 2007 to $49.8 mil-
lion in 2008;

Shareholder's equity decreased from $7.1 million in 2007
to $2.2 million in 2008, primarily as a result of a de-
cline in the market value of certain portfolio invest-
ments, a write-down of a note receivable from Alli-
ance Sonic Drilling Inc. and a write-down of deben-
tures receivable from Discovery Air Inc;

Revenues increased from $4.7 million in 2007 to $6.6
million in 2008; and

Loss for the year ended December 31, 2008 was
$6,075,018 (2007 - $493,647).

The performance of GDC was significantly impacted
again this year by the continuing delays in the Mackenzie
Valley Pipeline Project and the overall economic down-
turn in external markets. GDC continues to maintain its
administrative and overhead costs at a sustainable level
and will continue to look or opportunities to diversify its
holdings by investing outside the Gwich'in Settlement
Area to manage risk

Performance of Investments

1. Portfolio Investments, Promissory
Notes, Debentures and Advances

The market values of GDC's significant portfolio in-
vestments at December 31, 2008 were as follows:
Discovery Air Inc. $400,000 (2007 - $2,800,000);
Pacific & Western Credit Corporation $472,550
(2007 - $800,000); and NewNorth Projects Ltd,
$430,000 (2007 - $1,505,000).

For the year ended January 31, 2009, Discovery Air
Inc. earned revenues of $151.9 million (2008 -
$123.6 million) and incurred a net loss of $130.3 mil-
lion (2008 - net income $7.5 million). The Joss in fis-
cal 2009 resulted primarily from a $133.6 million
write-down of goodwill and other intangible assets
by the company related to the economic downturn.
For the year ended October 31, 2008, Pacific & West-
ern Credit Corporation earned revenues of $72.2 mil-
lion (2007 - $71.0 million) and incurred a net loss of
$20.1 million (2007 - net income $2.2 million). The
loss in fiscal 2009 resulted primarily from at $15.0
million asset write-down by the company related to
the economic downturn. For the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2008, NewNorth Projects Ltd. earned reve-
nues of $8.3 million (2007 - $16.6 million) and net
income of $0.1 million (2007 - $2.0 million).

In addition, GDC held significant investments in
promissory notes, debentures and advances receiv-
able at December 31, 2008 including: Pacific & West-
ern Credit Corporation $11,000,000 (2007 - $nil);
Discovery Air Inc. $10,010,955 (2007 - $10,500,000);
and a number of other smaller amounts due from
various external parties,

Due to the fluctuation in the capital markets, a loss of
$4.1 million (2007 - $1.2 million) was recorded hy
GDC related to its portfolio investments and an addi-
tional loss of approximately $0.7 million was re-
corded related to its promissory notes, debentures
and advances receivable. We believe that the market
value of these portfolio investments will begin to
recover as financial markets stabilize over the me-
dium term.

Our portfolio investments, promissory notes, deben-
tures and advances receivable provide GDC with an
opportunity to invest in strategic business segments
of aviation, banking and real estate development.
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GWICH'IN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Construction and Transportation

Gwich’in MAC Limited (100%)

GDC established Gwich’'in MAC Limited on January
31, 2007 to ensure Gwich'in participation in the con-
struction of the proposed Mackenzie Valley Pipeline.
This company will position GDC to bid on work asso-
ciated with the Mackenzie Valley Pipeline Project.
Total costs incurred during the year totaled $3,876
(2007 - $4,435).

Gwich'in Helicopters Ltd. (51%)

Gwich'in Helicopters Ltd. was incorporated in Sep-
tember, 2004 to provide helicopter services in the
Gwich'in Settlement Area. GHL purchased a hangar
in Inuvik and in April, 2006 purchased a new Euro-
copter AS 350 B2. Our partner, Great Slave Helicop-
ters Ltd,, provides technical and management exper-
tise. The company earned a profit of $367,954 (2007
- $293,944) on revenues of $1,096,074 (2007 -
$929,789).

Bob’'s Welding & Heavy Equipment Repairs Ltd.
(51%)

On November 1, 2007, GDC entered into an agree-
ment with the owners of Bob's Welding & Heavy
Equipment Rental Ltd to purchase 51% of the com-
pany which was finalized and effective June 16, 2008,
The company's principal business is the business of
welding, heavy equipment repairs, rock crushing,
transport and barging. The company earned reve-
nues of $3.7 million and incurred a net loss of
$185,363 for the year ended October 31, 2008.

Energy Development

Aadrii Limited (50%)

Aadrii Limited was established to recover and dis-
tribute residual heat from the diesel generating plant
in Fort McPherson. Revenues for 2008 amounted to
$160,421 (2007 - $155,577) and net income for the
year was $72,480 (2007 - $28,169).

GTM Enviro Services Ltd. {50%)

During the year, GDC acquired the remaining out-
standing shares of GTM Enviro Services Ltd. Reve-
nues for 2008 amounted to $112,590 (2007 -
$26,828) and loss for the year was $162,365 (2007 -
$50,994).

Gwich'in Ensign Oilfield Services Inc. (51%)

Gwich'in Ensign Oilfield Services Inc. has been sub-
stantially inactive for the past two years as there has
been no drilling activity on Gwich'in lands. Future
revenues from drilling and well servicing programs
will depend on oil and gas exploration in the
Gwich'in Settlement area. Net income for the year
amounted to $951 (2007 - net loss of $5,028).

Mackenzie Valley Aboriginal Pipeline Corpora-
tion (33.3%)

Mackenzie Valley Aboriginal Pipeline Corporation
has been established to act as General Partner for the
Mackenzie Valley Aboriginal Pipeline Limited Part-
nership. The corporation entered into a series of
agreements with the Mackenzie Gas Project to par-
ticipate as a one-third owner of the proposed pipe-
line. The corporation will ensure that GDC secures
substantial, ongoing financial benefits after the pipe-
line is constructed.

. Real Estate

MG Lodging Inuvik Ltd. (33.3%)

MG Lodging Inuvik Ltd., which provides camp accom-
modation and catering services, incurred a loss of
$117,144 (2007 - $15,145) on revenues of $34,982
(2007 - $252,052). In the years ahead when oil and
gas exploration in the region increase, MG Lodging
Inuvik Ltd. is expected to improve its financial per-
formance.

Larga Ltd. (37.5%)

Larga Ltd., which provides accommodation for north-
ern residents who are receiving medical treatment in
Edmonton, Alberta, earned $65,323 (2007 - $19,458)
on sales of $2,020,842 (2007 - $2,135,123). A man-
agement fee of $93,750 (2007 - $168,750) was paid
to the GDC in the current year.

Inuvik Capital Suites Zheh Gwizu’ Limited Part-
nership (37.5%)

Inuvik Capital Suites Zheh Gwizu’' Limited Partner-
ship, a partnership with the Nihtat Corporation,
Gwichya Gwich'in Council and the Northern Property
Real Estate Investment Trust, opened a hotel in Inu-
vik in October, 2004. The partnership earned
$371,106 (2007 - $264,150) on revenues of $2.4 mil-
lion (2007 - $2.2 million). Total partner distributions
for 2008 amounted to $1,240,000 (2007 - $580,000).
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Inuvik Commercial Properties Zheh Gwizu’ Lim-
ited Partnership (37.5%)

Inuvik Commercial Properties Zheh Gwizu' Limited
Partnership, a partnership with the Nihtat Corpora-
tion, Gwichya Gwich'in Council and the Northern
Property Real Estate Investment Trust, was created
on April 1, 2005. It currently owns a number of office
buildings in Inuvik and one office building in Yellow-
knife. The partnership earned $1.2 million (2007 -
$1.8 miilion) on revenues of $4.4 million (2007 - $4.2
million). Total partner distributions for 2008
amounted to $1,920,000 (2007 - $570,000).

GDC-NNP Limited Partnership (50%)

GDC-NNP Limited Partnership was created on Octo-
ber 14, 2005, and is a partnership between GDC and
NewNorth Projects Ltd. This partnership will iden-
tify potential residential, commercial and industrial
projects for development in the NWT. Loss for the
year amounted to $41,000 (2007 - $83,000).

Strategic Development and Outlook

In the current year, GDC will concentrate on the following
strategic initiatives:

GDC will continue to manage risk, by investing outside
the Gwich'in Settlement Area;

Ongoing attention will be applied to enhance Gwich'in
employment and training in all GDC businesses;

Management costs and administrative overheads will be
maintained at a sustainable level; and

New investment opportunities including other Gwich'in
organizations as partners.

In the year ahead, GDC will be looking for new opportuni-

ties, new partners and new employees to build a prosper-
ous future for our membership.

Controller/Acting CFO
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GWICH'IN SETTLEMENT CORPORATION REPORT
History

The Gwich'in Settlement Corporation ("GSC"), the investment arm of the Gwich'in Tribal
Council, was established in 1992 as a "settlement corporation” pursuant to Chapter 7 of the

Gwich'in Comprehensive Land Claim Agreement (the "Agreement").

The GSC is responsible for receiving and investing the majority of the capital transfer
payments payable to the Gwich’in, pursuant to Chapter 8 of the Agreement, so that future
generations of the Gwich’in can use the funds for "permitted activities” as described in

Schedule 1 to Chapter 11 of the Agreement.

At inception in 1992, the fund was conservatively invested in a portfolio of short term
guaranteed investment certificates. In 1995, this strategy was modified to include investment
in a Canadian bond portfolio managed by Wood Gundy.

In 1996, there were a number of significant milestones for the fund. The first was the
appointment of TAL Global Asset Management as the external investment manager to the
fund, replacing Wood Gundy. The appointment of TAL provided the GSC with access to a
professional investment management firm with the ability to invest a portion of the fund

assets in Canadian and foreign equities, in addition to Canadian bonds.

Another important development in 1996 was the adoption of By-Law #18 (now

By-Law #3) by the Gwich’in Tribal Council (GTC), which formalized the amount of the
capital transfer to be allocated to the fund from 1997 to 2008. The By-Law also improved
the governance of the fund through the establishment of an Investment Committee, the
retention of an external investment advisor and the establishment of an investment policy

that governs how the fund is to be invested and managed.

In April 2002, the Investment Committee appointed RBC Dominion Securities to manage a
portion of the Canadian equity portfolio of the fund to provide additional diversification by

investment style,

S NGS\HNORRIS\LOCAL SETTINGS\TEMPORARY INTERNET FILES\CONTENT. OUTLOOK\ZTVNGDRGIANNUAL REPORT_GEN
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In 2004, the Investment Committee conducted a review of the asset mix and investment
management of the fund. As a result of this review, modifications were made to the
Statement of Investment Policy for the fund to permit investments in a global equity

portfolio, which includes both US and international stocks.

In April 2004, UBS Global Asset Management (Canada) Co. was appointed to manage the
global equity portfolio. As a result of this appointment, TAL’s mandate, which had included
management of Canadian and US equities and fixed income, was amended to exclude

management of US equities.

By-Law #3 was revised in 2006 to provide for maximum annual disbursements for
administration expenses, capital distributions to participants and transfers to Designated
Gwich’in Organizations. These annual maximums as a percentage of the Fund balance are
1.0%, 1.0% and 3.5%, respectively. In addition, the Investment Committee has some
discretion in determining the annual disbursements, subject to an overall maximum of 5.5%
of the Fund balance. The goal over the long term is for the Fund balance to exceed the
Gwich’in Legacy Capital adjusted for inflation. The Gwich’in Legacy Capital is the Fund
balance at April 22", 2007. As of April 22™, 2007 the fund balance was $134.7 million.

The final capital transfer was received on April 22™, 2007. During the 2008/2009 fiscal year
disbursements were $5.1 million for permitted activities and $0.8 million for administrative

costs.
Fund Management

At March 31%, 2009, the following professional organizations were involved with the

investment management, administration and oversight of the fund:

m  CIBC Asset Management is an investment manager, responsible for a domestic balanced
mandate which includes Canadian equities and fixed income, as well as managing the

asset mix of the portfolio for which they are responsible.

® RBC Dominion Securities is an investment manager, responsible for managing a

Canadian equity portfolio.

RS NGSWHNORRISILOCAL SETTINGS\TEMPORARY INTERNET FILES\CONTENT OUTLOOK\ZTVNGDRGWANNUAL REPORT_GEN
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®m  UBS is an investment manager, responsible for managing a global equity portfolio,

B CIBC Mellon is the custodian of the fund assets, responsible for safekeeping,
administration, and financial reporting of the fund assets.

® Towers Perrin is the investment advisor to the GSC, responsible for monitoring
investment performance and compliance with the terms of the investment policy, and

advising the GSC with respect to the investment management of the fund.
Investments at March 31*, 2009

® At March 31%, 2009, the total market value of the fund was $101,124,562" compared
with $128,825.467' at March 3 1**, 2008 and was invested as follows:

' The amount at March 3 ls', 2009 includes a Gwich'in Development Corporation receivable of $21,900,000.

The amount at March 3 ]s‘, 2008 includes a Gwich'in Development Corporation receivable of $7,500,000.
These receivables have not been reflected in the asset allocation charts below.

2 Reflects expenditures of $5.1 million on permitted activities and $0.8 million administrative costs and

disbursements.
Total Fund Policy Benchmark
at March 31*, 2009 at March 31*, 2009

Canadian
Equity
36.7%

Canadian
Equity
32.5%

Cash 5.8%
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The following chart shows the fund benchmark and asset class returns for the one year and
four year periods ended March 31%, 2009:

1 Year Returns to March 31, 2009 4 Year Returns to March 31, 2009

DEX Universe
SEP/TSX Composite
T-Bills

MSCI World

Fund Benchmark

Total Fund

-40.0% -30,0% -20.0% -100% 0.0% 10.0%

DEX Universe
-324% S8PITSX Composite
T-Bills

-29.6% MSCiWorld  -58%

Fund Benchmark

Total Fund -0.3%

-10.0%  -5.0% 0.0% 5.0% 10.0%

Over the one year period ended March 31%, 2009 the top performing asset class was bonds
with a return of 4.9%, followed by cash at 2.4% and global equities (in Canadian dollar
terms) at -29.6%. Canadian equities returned -32.4%.

The total fund returned -19.9% for the year ended March 31%, 2009 which trailed the total
fund benchmark return while ranking fourth quartile when compared to a universe of

balanced funds with similar asset allocations. Underperformance within Canadian equities

and bonds was the primary determinant of relative underperformance during this period.

Over four years, the total fund has returned -0.3% per annum, underperforming the total fund

benchmark return of 0.8% per annum, ranking fourth quartile in a universe of other balanced

funds. Relative underperformance during this period is primarily attributable to poor

performance in all asset classes.

o~
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Tax Status

To maintain its tax exempt status after April 22"", 2007, the Gwich'in Settlement Corporation
must spend annuaily a minimum amount, referred to as the "disbursement quota", on
permitted activities as contained in Schedule 1 to Chapter 11 of the Agreement. For transfers
to Designated Gwich’in Organizations, the disbursement quota is set at a maximum 3.5% of
the capital. In addition, a maximum of 1% of the capital may be disbursed annually for each

of administration expenses and capital distributions to participants.
Progress of the Fund

® At March 31%, 2009 the actual fund market value was $101.1 million. The inflation
adjusted Gwich'in Legacy Capital at March 31*, 2009 is $137.5 million. In light of this
shortfall, the Investment Committee should disburse the minimum allowable amount in
2009/2010.
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INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT

Objectives

Investment performance objectives for the total fund have been established and documented
in the policy statement. Performance results are independently measured by Towers Perrin.
The results are calculated and monitored on a monthly basis and formally reviewed every

three months,

The total fund has two primary performance benchmarks. The first is to exceed the returns
generated by a benchmark portfolio based upon the individual indices and the fund's normal
policy asset mix. This benchmark at March 31%, 2008 was 40% fixed income, 32.5%
Canadian equities and 27.5% global equities. A second objective is to rank in the top 50% of
balanced funds (i.e. rank above the median fund) evaluated by Towers Perrin over moving
four year periods. A final objective is to earn a rate of return of at least 6.6% per annum over

the long term.

The fund underperformed the benchmark return over the four years ended March 31%, 2009,
Relative to a universe of balanced fund managers, the four year return ranked fourth quartile.
Since 1996, when active management was first utilized in the fund, the fund has returned

approximately 5.1% per annum, matching the policy benchmark.

-1 NGSHNORRISWLOCAL SETTINGSITEMPORARY INTERNET FILES\CONTENT OUTLODKZTVNGDRGANNUAL REPORT_GEN
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Capital Markets Review at March 31*, 2009

. 32.4%
S&PTSX Composite -

BMO Blended SmaliCap 2% 2

S&P 500

S&P 500 SUS

MSCI EAFE Net

MSCIWorkd Net 298% -

MSCI Emerging Markets Gross Ha% -

DEX 91 Day T-Bill K

DEX Universe Bond -

-50.0% -40.0% -30.0% -20.0% -10.0% 0.0% 10.0%

| Current Quarter I-1h-‘l'¢ar

B  The Canadian dollar weakened relative to the U.S. dollar (closing at 79.48 cents U.S.)
and Pound Sterling but strengthened relative to the Euro and Japanese Yen during the

first three months of 2009 and performed as follows:

USD per CAD: -1.9%
EUR per CAD: 2.7%
JPY per CAD: 6.9%
UKP per CAD:  -1.6%

® The Canadian stock market declined rapidly during the first two months of the year, but
rallied in March, recouping most of the losses. Canadian small cap stocks recorded a
positive first quarter return, outperforming Canadian large and mid cap stocks. The
largest detractors from the last quarter performance for the S&P/TSX Composite based

RS NGEHNORRIS\LOCAL SETTINGS\TEMPORARY INTERNET FILES\CONTENT, GUTLOOKIZTVNGDRGANNUAL REPORT_GEN
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on relative weight and return included Manulife Financial (-30.3%), Barrick Gold
(-8.7%) and Rogers Communications (-19.8%). The largest positive contributors were
Suncor Energy (18.9%), Petro-Canada (27.7%) and Potash (14.0%). Information
Technology, Materials and Health Care were the only sectors to post a positive return
over the first quarter. Utilities and Industrial suffered the greatest losses, posting double

digit negative returns over the period.

®  All segments of the Canadian bond market posted gains over the first quarter with
corporates outperforming government bonds as the credit spreads narrowed from their
record highs. In an environment of deepening recession, the Bank of Canada cut the
overnight lending rate by 100 basis points to 0.5% during the first quarter, which is the
lowest level in the Bank of Canada's 75-year history.

® The U.S. large cap stocks extended their losses from the previous year and posted a
negative return for the sixth consecutive quarter. Reduced consumer spending, higher
unemployment, deteriorating credit environment and skyrocketing budget deficit, raised
signs of caution and negatively impacted investor sentiment. Mid cap stocks
outperformed both small and large cap stocks over the first quarter. Growth style stocks
noticeably outperformed value style stocks. The largest detractors from the S&P 500
over the first quarter based on relative weight and return included General Electric
(-35.6%), Wells Fargo (-50.1%), and Exxon Mobil (-14.3%), in US dollar terms. All ten
sectors, with the exception of Information Technology finished the quarter in negative

territory. Financials and Industrials were the worst performing sectors over that period.

®  Similar to other markets, most European equity markets recorded large losses over the
first quarter. In an effort to invigorate economic activity, the European Central Bank
further reduced borrowing costs by cutting its key lending rate to 1.25%, which is the
lowest rate since the European Central Bank took charge of the European monetary
policy in 1999. Pacific Rim equity markets followed in suit with other equity markets
and finished the quarter in negative territory. Japan's economy weakened further and
contracted over 12% (annualized) over the last quarter of 2008, the biggest decline since
1974.

TOWERS NGSIHNORRISWOCAL SETTINGS\TEMPORARY INTERNET FILES\CONTENT OUTLODKZTVNGDRGWNNUAL REPORT_GEN
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Total Fund

The fund's return was -3.0% for the quarter, and -19.9% for the one year ending

March 31%, 2009. This performance trailed the policy benchmark for the year, and
underperformed the median fund. Over five years, the fund has underperformed the
benchmark, and ranked fourth quartile. Below median ranking over the longer term was

primarily attributable to poor results in all asset classes.

March 31, 2009

5% -

13521 23 i

10%
) 0ad %
,ﬁ
3.5% am%

Retum {p.a.)

3 Months 1 Year 2 Years 3 Years 4 Years 5 Years

|I Total Fund @ Policy Benchmark 1 Balanced Fund Median Return
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Canadian Equities

The Canadian equity component of the fund is invested in publicly traded securities listed on
major exchanges, with an emphasis in the portfolio on quality and diversification.
Approximately half of the Canadian equity portfolio is managed by CIBC Asset
Management with the other half managed by RBC Dominion Securities.

The total Canadian equity component returned -4.7% for the three months ended

March 31%, 2009, lagging the S&P/TSX index return of -2.0%. Over one year, the fund's
Canadian equity return was -34.4%, behind the index return of -32.4% for the same period.
These results ranked fourth quartile for both the three month one year periods relative to a
universe of Canadian equity managers. Over five years, the Canadian equity component has
trailed the returns earned by the benchmark and ranked third quartile.

CIBC Asset Management’s portion of the Canadian equity component of the fund returned
-2.7% and -36.7% respectively for the three months and one year period ended

March 31%, 2009. Relative ranking was third quartile for the three month period and fourth
quartile for the one year period.

RBC's Canadian equity portfolio returned -6.2% over the three months ended
March 31%, 2009 and -32.8% over the one year period. Relative ranking was fourth quartile
over the quarter and third quartile for the one year period.
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Fixed Income

This component of the fund, managed by CIBC Asset Management, is largely invested in
publicly traded fixed income securities including federal government, provincial
government, municipal government and corporate bonds. Fixed income securities are
purchased for both their income and capital gain potential. They are actively managed to

take advantage of changes in interest rates between the various sectors of the bond market.

The fund's bond return for the year ended March 31*, 2009 was 1.7%, tailing the

DEX Universe Index return of 4.9%, while ranking fourth quartile relative to a universe of
bond managers. Over five years, the bond component of the fund returned 4.4%, trailing the
index return of 5.2%, and ranking fourth quartile.
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Global Equities

The global equity component, managed by UBS, is invested in U.S. and international
securities listed on stock exchanges located in developed markets in America, Europe and
Asia, including Australia and New Zealand. The inclusion of global investments offers
diversification benefits to the fund as well as access to sectors that are under represented in

Canada (e.g., Health Care and Consumer sectors).

The fund’s global equity component has been managed by UBS since May 2004, and
returned -27.3% over the one year ended March 31, 2009, ahead of the benchmark return of
-29.6%, and ranking second quartile compared to a universe of global equity managers.
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2008 Activities

m  Investment Committee met in October 2008 and May 2009
®  October meeting
— Activites
— Investment managers made presentations to Committee
- Committee reviewed asset mix policy for GSC fund
— Action items
- UBS placed on watch
- Current asset mix policy confirmed
m  May meeting
— Activities
- Committee reviewed investment performance to March 31%, 2009
- Recent performance of UBS has improved
— Action items

— UBS remains on watch but Committee is encouraged by recent performance and

personnel changes

- CIBC placed on watch for Canadian equities

RS NGSHNORRIS\LOCAL SETTINGSITEMPORARY INTERNET FILESYCONTENT OUTLOOKZTVNGDRGANNUAL REPORT_GEN
IN ASSEMBLY DOC



Gwich'in Settlement Corporation Annual Report
August 2009 14

2009 Initiatives

®m  [nvestment Committee to continue meeting twice per year
— Next meeting in November 2009
m  Agenda will include
— Review of investment performance to September 30", 2009

— Continued monitoring UBS and CIBC
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EXECUTIVE - CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

A. Our Mandate

The Gwich’in Tribal Council (“GTC"} is committed to the
economic, social and cultural development of its mem-
bership. We manage your long-term investments in the
Land Claim Settlement Fund and we deliver programs
and services to you through Operations. Separate finan-
cial statements for each activity are prepared in addition
to the overall consolidated financial statements, which
have been included in the Annual Report.

B. Land Claim Settlement Fund

Land Ciaim Settlement Fund net assets total approxi-
mately $113 million (2008 - $122 million) and are com-
prised of portfolio investments of $93 million (2008 -
$111 million), long-term investments of $2 million (2008
- $2 million) and investments in subsidiaries and partner-
ships of $22 million (2008 - $17 miilion) less net liabili-
ties of $4 million (2008 - $8 million). Portfolio and long-
term investments are held primarily within Gwich'in Set-
tlement Corporation and investments in subsidiaries and
partnerships are held primarily within Gwich'in Develop-
ment Corporation,

The Land Claim Settlement Fund had a consolidated an-
nual deficit of $6 million for the year ended March 31,
2009 (2008 - $2 million} and a consolidated accumulated
surplus at March 31, 2009 of approximately $120 million
(2008 - $127 million).

C. Gwich’in Tribal Council - Operations
Total expenditures for the year ended March 31, 2009 on

programs amounted to approximately $14.2 million
(2008 - $17.5 million) as follows:

2009 2008

General government $7.251,860 $9,474,418
Self-government 885,000 982,385
Land claim implementation 590,495 648,994
Land administration 211,510 208,195
Mackenzie Valley Pipeline 690,065 316,411
Resource management 375,805 351,788
Education, social and cultural 3,199,115 3,426,375
Capital distribution 1,035,270 1,899,574

General government expenditures of ($7.3 million) in-
clude approximately $3.8 million for Council operating
expenses and $2.4 million for band support and Desig-
nated Gwich'in organization funding.

Funding for self-government ($0.9 million) is for self-
government main table negotiations and community
Gwich'in constitution work.

Expenditures for land claim implementation and land

administration ($0.8 million} include Claim Implementa-
tion, Gwich'in Land Administration and resource initia-
tives.

Mackenzie Valley Pipeline ($0.7 million) expenditures
are incurred to fund access and benefit implementation,
environmental impact assessments, and other pipeline
related activities.

Education, social and cultural programs ($3.2 million)
include activities of the Gwich'in Social and Cultural Inst-
tute ($0.9 million), various Aboriginal Human Resource
Development [nitiatives ($0.9 million), Gwich'in Wellness
Initiatives ($0.7 million) and other programs.

The Gwich'in Tribal Council will be continuing the prac-
tice of reviewing the performance of all our programs to
ensure continuous improvements in the quality of service
to our beneficiaries in a financially efficient manner.

D. Overall Results

The Council had a consolidated annual deficit of approxi-
mately $6.1 million (2008 - $2.4 million) for the year
ended March 31, 2009. Total consolidated accumulated
surplus as at March 31, 2009 was approximately $126
million (2008 - $132 million).

E. Strategic Development and Outlook

The Gwich'in Tribal Council will continue to focus its ef-
forts to maximize the returns that are earned on the
Gwich'in Land Claim Settlement Fund investments. In
the coming year we will continue to monitor and evalu-
ate our overall investment strategies and asset allaca-
tions to ensure we realize our investment objectives.

With respect to the Gwich'in Settlement Corporation, we
annually review our asset mix and the performance of
our fund managers to ensure that our investment objec-
tives are achieved.

The financial performance of the Gwich'in Development
Corporation has been significantly impacted again this
year as a result of regulatory delays in the Mackenzie
Valley Pipeline approval process. In the current year,
GDC will manage this risk by looking for work and oppor-
tunities for our impacted subsidiary companies in other
markets, by maintaining management and administrative
overhead both in GDC and in subsidiaries companies at
sustainable levels and finally by diversifying our invest-
ments outside the Gwich'in Settlement Area.

Controller/Acting CFO
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MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Gwich'in Tribal Council are the responsibility
of management. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in
accordance with Canadian generally accepled accounting principles. Financial stalements are not
precise since they include certain amounis based on estimates ard judgments. When alernative
accounting methods exist, management has chosen those it deems most appropriate in the
circumstances, in order to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly, in all
material respects.

To assist in meeting its responsibility, management malntains accounting, budget and other internal
controls. These controls provide reasonable assurance that transactions are appropriately authorized
and accurately recorded, that assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded, in order that the
integrity of financial records is maintained.

The financial statements have been audited by the independent firm, KPMG LLP. Their report 1o the
members of Gwich'in Tribal Councll, stating the scope of thelr examination and opinion on the
consolidated financlal statements, follows.

Sident Chief Financial Officer

inuvik, Canada
May 29, 2009



KPMG LLP Telephone  (780) 429-7300

Chartered Accountants Fax (780) 429-7379
10125 - 102 Street Internet www.kpmg.ca
Edmonton AB T3] 3V8

Canada

AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

We have audited the consolidated statement of financial position of the Gwich'in Tribal Council as
at March 31, 2009 and the consolidated statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash
flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Council's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Gwich'in Tribal Council as at March 31, 2009 and the results of its opera-
tions and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles.

K ons £<F
T

Chartered Accountants

Edmonton, Canada
May 29, 2009

KPMG LLP, is a Canadian limited liability zu'tnershi&and a member firm of the KPMG
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative.
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GWICH'IN TRIBAL COUNCIL

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

March 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008

2009 2008
(Restated —
note 20)

Financial assets:

Cash $ 5724147 $ 3,823,258

Accounts receivable 2,358,707 2,155,255

Portfolio investments (note 2) 93,456,800 111,420,367

Long-term investments (note 3) 2,000,000 2,000,000

Investments in subsidiaries and partnerships (note 4) 22,254,565 17,114,073

125,794,219 136,512,951

Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,710,192 1,477,690

Contributions repayable (note 5) 90,278 342,533

Deferred contributions (note 6) 275,816 101,604

Deferred scholarship funds (note 7) 155,568 -

Deferred guarantee fees (note 8) 450,000 450,000

Due to Designated Gwich’in Organizations (note 9) - 4,000,000

Long-term debt {note 10) 5,009,945 4,299,556

7,695,799 10,671,383

Net assets 118,098,420 125,841,568
Non-financial assets:

Tangible capital assets (note 11) 7,770,857 6,173,625

Prepaid expenses 83,851 44,497

7,854,708 6,218,122

125,953,128 & 132,059,690

Accumulated surplus §

Commitments and guarantees (note 12)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Council:

Director

Director
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GWICH'IN TRIBAL COUNCIL

Consolidated Statement of Operations

Year ended March 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008

2009 2008
{Restated —
note 20)
Revenues:
Contributions:
DIAND 3 2,746,667 $ 1,991,655
Government of Canada 1,280,859 1,793,250
Government of NWT 719,327 613,265
Other 505,751 1,234,635
5,252,604 5,632,805
Contributions to be repaid (61,660) (342,533)
Net amounts recognized (deferred) (178,212) (73,334)
5,012,732 5,216,938
Royalties 2,188,092 1,444,214
User fees, expense recoveries and other amounts 793,191 444 820
Administration fees - 27,830
Contributions of tangible capital assets (note 11) 1,261,337 317,726
Gain on sale of tangible capital assets - 34,426
Investment income (note 13) 3,959,743 9,606,821
Loss on investments in subsidiaries and partnerships (note 14) {5,082,537) (2,009,460)
8,132,558 15,083,315
Expenses (notes 15 and 16):
General government 7,251,860 9,474,418
Self-government 885,000 982,385
Land claim implementation 590,495 648,994
Land administration 211,510 208,195
Mackenzie Valley Pipeline 690,065 516,411
Resource management 375,805 351,788
Education, social and cultural 3,199,115 3,426,375
Capital distribution 1,035,270 1,899,574
14,239,120 17,508,140
Annual deficit (6.106,562) (2.424,825)
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 132,059,690 134,484,515
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 125,953,128 $132,059.690

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GWICH'IN TRIBAL COUNCIL

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year ended March 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008

2009 2008
{Restated -
note 20)
Annual deficit B (6106,562) $  (2,424,825)
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,986,725) {4,171,286)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 389,493 158,143
Gain on sale of tangible assets - (34,426)
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets - 34,426
(7.703,794)  (6,437,968)
Increase in prepaid expenses (39,354) (10,633)
Decrease in net assets (7,743,148) {6,448,601)
Net assets, beginning of year 125,841,568 132,290,169
Net assets, end of year 8 118,098,420 $ 125.841.568

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GWICH'IN TRIBAL COUNCIL
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended March 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008

2009 2008
{Restated ~ note 20)
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating transactions:
Annual deficit 3 {6,106,562) $ (2,424,825)
Items which do not involve cash:
Loss on investments in subsidiaries and partnerships 5,082,537 2,009,460
Amortization of tangible capital assets 389,493 168,143
Loss on disposal of investments in subsidiaries
and partnerships 18 -
Impairment in value of portfolio investments - 9,851
Realized losses (gains) on disposal of portfolic investments 731,439 (3,902,676)
Gain on sale of tangible capital assets - (34,426)
Change in non-cash operating working capital:
Accounts receivable (203,452) (2,613,615)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 232,502 358,976
Contributions repayable (252,255) 340,606
Deferred contributions 178,212 17,416
Deferred scholarship funds 155,568 -
Deferred guarantee fees - 450,000
Due to Designated Gwich'in Organizations {4,000,000) 4,000,000
Prepaid expenses (39,354) (10,633)
(3,831,854} {1,641,723)
Capital transactions:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,986,725} (4,171,286}
Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets - 34,426
(1,986,725) (4,136,860)
Investing transactions:
Future settlement proceeds received - 3,831,268
Decrease (increase) in portfolio investments, net 17,232,128 374,574
Increase in interest in investments in subsidiaries
and partnerships (10,223,049) (3,687,020)
Proceeds from disposition of investments in subsidiaries
and partnerships 2 2,500,000
7,009,081 3,018,822
Financing transactions:
Proceeds from long-term debt 730,000 4,270,000
Repayments of long-term debt {19,611) (53,666)
Claims loan agreement repayments - (427,500)
710,389 3,788,834
Increase in cash 1,900,891 1,029,073
Cash, beginning of year 3,823,256 2,794,183
Cash, end of year $ 5,724,147 $ 3,823,256

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GWICH'IN TRIBAL COUNCIL

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year ended March 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008

The Gwich'in Tribal Council (the "Council") is an aboriginal organization that represents Gwich'in
beneficiaries in the Mackenzie Delta of the Northwest Territories. The Council was established in
1983 by the Band Councils and Metis Locals of the four communities of Aklavik, Tsiigehtchic, Fort
McPherson and Inuvik. The Council is incorporated under the Canada Corporations Act and is not
subject to any federal, territorial or local government taxes or similar charges.

The objectives of the Council include the foilowing:

 to protect and preserve the rights, interest and benefits of the Gwich'in in reference to their use,
ownership and management of lands, waters and resources in the Gwich'in settlement area:

» to retain, preserve and enhance the traditional and cuitural values, customs and language of the
Gwich'in in a changing society;

« to develop and promote economic, social, educational and cultural programs that will enable the
Gwich'in to become self-sufficient and full participating members in a global society;

» to uphold the rights, interest and benefits of the Gwich'in in reference to the Constitution Act,
Treaty 11 and the Gwich'in Comprehensive Land Claim Agreement; and

» to receive, preserve and enhance the capital and the lands and other benefits transferred to the
Gwich'in pursuant to the Gwich'in Comprehensive Land Claim Agreement signed on April 22,
1992,
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GWICH'IN TRIBAL COUNCIL

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year ended March 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008

1. Sianificant accounting policies:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian gener-
ally accepted accounting principles for local government entities established by the Public Sector
Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (see note 20).

Significant aspects of the accounting policies adopted by the Council are as follows:

(a) Reporting entity and basis of accounting:

The Council is comprised of a number of funds and subsidiaries that are accountable for the
financial administration of their financial resources to the Council and are owned or controlled
by the Council. They include the following:

Entity Year end
Gwich'in Tribal Council Operating Accounts March 31, 2009
Gwich'in Tribal Land Claim Settlement Fund March 31, 2009
Gwich'in Education Foundation March 31, 2009
GTC-Imperial Oil Education Foundation March 31, 2009
GTC-Imperial Oil Business Capacity Fund March 31, 2009
Gwich'in Social and Cultural Institute March 31, 2009
Gwich'in Enrolment Board March 31, 2009
Council of Gwich'in Chiefs March 31, 2009
Gwich'in Seftlement Corporation March 31, 2009

Certain subsidiary entities are accounted for on a modified equity basis, consistent with the
generally accepted accounting treatment for government business enterprises. Under the
modified equity basis, the business enterprises’ accounting principles are not adjusted to con-
form to those of the Council, and inter-organizational transactions and balances are not elimi-
nated. Subsidiary entities accounted for in this manner are:

Entity Year end
Gwich'in Development Carporation December 31, 2008
Zheh Gwizuh (G.P.) Limited December 31, 2008
Aboriginal Contractors Corporation December 31, 2008
Mackenzie Valley Aboriginal Pipeline Limited Partnership March 31, 2009
Gwick'in EllisDon Healthcare Inc. (sold March 6, 2009) December 31, 2008
Gwich'in EllisDon LPF Hamilton Ltd. (sold March 6. 2009) December 31, 2008
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GWI

CH'IN TRIBAL COUNCIL

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year ended March 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008

1. Significant accounting policies {continued):

(a)

b)

Reporting entity and basis of accounting (continued):

The Council has the ability to appoint a portion of the members of the Board of Directors of
the Gwich'in Land Use Planning Board, Gwich’in Land and Water Board, Gwich'in Renewable
Resource Board and the Gwich'in Wildlife Studies Fund.

The Council also administers Gwich'in Children's Trust and Gwich'in Harvesters Assistance
Trust on behalf of their beneficiaries.

Portfolio investments:

Fixed income investments are recorded at amortized cost or at amortized cost less provisions
to reflect a decline in value that is other than temporary. Interest income is recognized on an
effective yield basis.

Investments in common stocks are recorded at cost, or at cost less amounts written off to re-
flect a decline in value that is other than temporary.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the prevail-
ing rates of exchange at year-end. Non-monetary amounts and liabilities are translated at
historic exchange rates. Investment income (losses) and expenditures are translated at the
exchange rates on the date of the transaction. Gains and losses on foreign currency transac-
tions are included as part of investment income (loss).

Long-term investments:

The Council records long-term investments that are not subject to significant influence, con-
trol or joint control at cost, or at cost less amounts written off to reflect a decline in value that
is other than temporary. Earnings from long-term investments are recognized only to the ex-
tent received or receivable.

Revenue recognition:

Revenues are accounted for in the year in which the transactions or events occur that give
rise to the revenue. Restricted funding is recognized as revenue in the year in which the re-
lated expenditures are incurred. Unrestricted funding is recognized as revenue when re-
ceived or receivable if the collection of the amount to be received is reasonably assured. In-
terest revenue is recorded as it is earned.
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GWICH'IN TRIBAL COUNCIL

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year ended March 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

Tangible capital assets:

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost. Amortization is provided using the following

methods and annual rates:

Asset

Gwich'in Wellness Camp
Condominium and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures

Vehicles

Computer hardware and software
Leasehold improvements

Use of estimates:

Basis

Declining balance
Declining balance
Declining balance
Declining balance
Declining balance
Declining balance
Straight-line

Rate

4%
4%
20%- 30%
20%
30%
30%
Lease term

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted ac-
counting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses dur-

ing the year. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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GWICH'IN TRIBAL COUNCIL

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year ended March 31, 2008, with comparative figures for 2008

2. Portfolio investments:

2009 2009 2008 2008
Fair Fair
Cost value Cost value
(Restated —
note 20)
Cash $ 1,649,159 $ 1,649,159 $ 577,791 $577.791
Settlements receivable (payable) (623,080) (623,080) 794,095 794,095
Accrued interest and dividends 64,604 64,604 - -

Fixed income:

Government and government-

guaranteed bonds with average

effective yields of approximately

5.35% (2008 - 5.47%) and

maturity dates from November

15, 2010 to October 17, 2040 14,550,476 14,825,436 22,910,293 23,365,110
Corporate bonds with average

effective yields of approximately

5.60% (2008 — 5.25%)

and maturity dates from

June 30, 2010 to June 14, 2035 10,472,560 10,146,917 20,415,654 19,375,874
Short-term notes and deposits

with average effective yields of

approximately 4.00% with maturity
dates of less than one year 3,902,581 3,902,882 4,050,322 4,050,344

30,016,300 29,965,918 48,748,155 48,163,214

Common stocks:

Canadian 29,938,382 28,204,424 28,535,040 44,274,127
International 33,502,118 21,054,220 33,137,172 28,928,761
63,440,500 49,258,644 62,672,212 73,202,888
$ 83,456,800 §$ 79,224,562 $111,420367% 121,366,102

The market value of the Council's portfolio investments is $14,232,238 less than cost at March 31, 2009. The carry-
ing value of these securities has not been written down as management has concluded, based on a review of market
information for the securities, that there is no obvious indication that the impairment is other than temporary.
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GWICH'IN TRIBAL COUNCIL

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year ended March 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008

3. Long-term investments:

Long-term investments are comprised of an investment, at cost, of $2,000,000 for 888,892 com-
mon shares of First Nations Bank of Canada acquired October 26, 2007.

4. Investments in subsidiaries and partnerships:

2009 2008

{Restated - note 20)

Gwich'in Development Corporation, 100% subsidiary $22,032,588 $ 16,784,079
Zheh Gwizuh {G.P.} Limited, 100% subsidiary 935 17,588
Aboriginal Contractors Corporation, 67.67% subsidiary 221,022 312,366
Mackenzie Valley Aberiginal Pipeline Limited Partnership,

34.48% interest 20 20

Gwich'in EllisDon Healthcare Inc., 100% subsidiary - 10

Gwich'in EllisDon LPF Hamilton Ltd. , 100% subsidiary - 10
$ 22,254,565 $ 17,114,073
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GWICH'IN TRIBAL COUNCIL

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year ended March 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008

4. Investments in subsidiaries and partnerships (continued):

(a) Gwich'in Development Corporation

Gwich'in Development Corporation (the "Corporation") is incorporated under the Business Corporations Act of
the Northwest Territories. Substantialfly all of the revenues of the Corporation are from business and investment
activities on behalf of the Gwich'in beneficiaries, mainly within the Gwich'in Settlement Area in the Northwest

Territories.

The following table provides condensed supplementary financial information for the Gwich'in Development Cor-

poration:
2009 2008
(Restated -note 20)
Financial Position:
Current assets $ 28,652,686 $ 8,809,326
Non-current assets 2,873,968 17,113,421
Property and equipment 17,779,296 17,080,258
Intangible assets 185,230 299,822
Goodwill 275,000 -
Total assets 49,766,180 43,312,827
Liabilities:
Current liabilities 19,609,383 22,075,692
Non-current liabilities 8,124,209 4,453,056
Due to Gwich'in Tribal Council Land Claim
Settlement Fund 19,862,883 9,706,511
Total liabilities 47,586,475 36,235,259
Net assets $ 2,168,705 5
Results of Operations:
Revenues % 6594005 $ 4667201
Operating expenditures {6,478,540) {4,245,717)
Other amounts (5,023,328) (2,286,463)
Loss for the year $ (4,907,863) 3
Cash flows:
Cash from (to) operations $ 3,939,082 $ (3,498,845
Cash from financing 12,433,479 14,117,544
Cash to investing (13,952,809) (11,504,936)
Increase (decrease) in cash 3 2,419,752 $ (886,237)
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4. Investments in subsidiaries and partnerships (continued):

{b) Zheh Gwizuh (G.P.) Limited

Zheh Gwizuh (G.P.) Limited (the "Company") is a private company incorporated under the Business Corpora-
tions Act of the Northwest Territories. Its principal activities are the provision of management services to the
Zheh Gwizuh Limited Partnership and Gwich'in Investments Limited Partnership. The Company holds, in trust,
legal title to land on behalf of the Partners of the Zheh Gwizuh Limited Partnership and also holds, in trust, legal
title to the investments on behaif of the Partners of the Gwich'in Investments Limited Parinership.

The following table provides condensed supplementary financial information for Zheh Gwizuh {G.P.) Limited:

2009 2008
{Restated —
note 20)
Financial Position:

Current assets $ 185,504 $ 21934

Non-current assets 20 20

Property and equipment 1,189,253 -
Total assets 1,374,777 21,954

Liabilities:

Current liabilities 217,125 4,366

Non-current liabifities 1,156,717 -
Total liabilities 1,373,842 4,366
Net assets $ 935 $ 17,588
Results of Operations;

Revenues 3 54230 § 10,805

Expenditures {70,883) (7,853)
Eamings (loss) for the year 5 (16,653) % 2,952
Cash flows:

Cash from (to) operations 3 (32,252) & 3,037

Cash from financing 1,366,203 -

Cash to investing (1.200,000) -
Increase in cash $ 133951 % 3,037
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4. Investments in subsidiaries and partnerships (continued):

(c) Aboriginal Contractors Corporation:

Aboriginal Contractors Corporation (the "Corporation”) is a private corporation incorporated on June 11, 2004
under the Business Corporations Act of the Northwest Territories. Its principal activity is to develop a made in
the North solution to meet the construction requirements of the Mackenzie Gas Project ("the Project”).

The following table provides condensed suppiementary financial information for the Aboriginal Contractors Cor-

poration:
2009 2008
(Restated —
note 20)
Financial Position:
Current assets 134202 $ 114,102
Non-current assets 646,000 523,500
Total assets 780,202 637,602
Liabilities:
Current liabilities 90,152 37,033
Non-current fiabilities 300,087 271,333
Minority interest 168,941 16,870
Due to Gwich'in Tribal Council Land Claim
Settlement Fund 616,675 550,000
Total liabilities 1,175,855 875,236
Net assets (deficiency) (395653) § (237,634)
Results of Operations:
Revenues 36,77 % 74,259
Operating expenditures (273,798) (295,397)
Loss for the year (237.019) 3% (221,138)
Cash flows:
Cash from operations (207,877) % (241,425)
Cash from financing 489,700 504,000
Cash from investing (250,000) {528,500)
Increase (decrease) in cash 31823 § (266,925)
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4. Investments in subsidiaries and partnerships (continued):

(d) Mackenzie Valley Aboriginal Pipeline Limited Partnership:

Mackenzie Valley Aboriginal Pipeline Limited Partnership was established in accordance with the Limited Part-
nership Agreement dated June 16, 2003 pursuant to the Partnership Act of the Northwest Territories and subse-
quently an Amended and Restated Limited Parinership Agreement as at June 23, 2004 to represent the interest
of the Aboriginal Pipeline Group in the Mackenzie Gas Pipeline Project.

(e) Gwich'in EllisDon Healthcare Inc. and Gwicl'in EllisDon LPF Hamiiton Ltd.:

Gwich'in EllisDon Healthcare Inc. and Gwich'in EllisDon LPF Hamilton Ltd. were established in the prior year as
part of guarantee arrangements with Pacific & Western Bank of Canada. The Council's shares were pledged as
security under the guarantee arrangements. On March 8, 2009, the Council sold its interests in both subsidiaries
and the related guarantees were released by Pacific & Western Bank of Canada subsequent to year end (see
notes 8 and 12).

§. Contributions repayable:

2009 2008

Restated — note 20)
Contributions repayable by project:

Finance meeting $ 9300 % 10,433
Arctic Gas Symposium 1,651 -
Consultation policy workshop 36,070 -
AHRDA — Employment Insurance 31,234 22,660
Train-the-Trainer & Grief and Loss 12,023 -
Inherent right - 262,500
Mackenzie Valley Pipeline - 18,111
Business Symposium - 20,000
Intergovernmental forums #5 - 5,000
Other - 2,829
3 80,278 § 342,533
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6. Deferred contributions:

2009 2008
Restated —
note 20)
Deferred contributions by project:
University and College Entrance Program 3 26203 § 8,831
CD ROM grant 12,000 -
Intergovernmental forums #5 - 20,000
Claim implementation 77,980 -
Gwich'in Renewable Resource Councils 24,000 -
AHRDA - Consolidated Revenue Fund 82,737 58,339
Gwich'in Social and Cultural Institute 56,896 14,434
$ 279816 % 101,604

7. Deferred scholarship funds:

During the year, the Council received contributions totaling $155,568 from community members, community organi-
zations and businesses to establish the “Fred Carmichael Scholarship Fund”. These contributions are to be used to
provide scholarships to worthy beneficiaries and have not been distributed as at March 31, 2009.

8. Deferred guarantee fees:

In the prior year, $450,000 in guarantee fees were received as part of guarantee arrangements with Pacific & West-
em Bank of Canada related to hospital construction projects being carried out by Gwich'in EllisDon Healthcare Inc.
and Gwich'in EllisDon LPF Hamilton Ltd. These fees will be recognized in revenue once the guarantees have been
released (see notes 4 and 12).

9. Due to Designated Gwich’in Organizations:

The amounts due to Designated Gwich'in Organizations were unsecured and non-interest bearing.
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10. Long-term debt:

2009 2008

Restated — note 20)

Royal bank demand loan bearing interest at the bank’s prime

rate, secured by a general security agreement $ 5,000,000 3 4,270,000
Finance contract bearing interest at 1.90%, repayable in

blended monthly instaliments of $1,667, due

September 26, 2009,secured by a vehicle with a carrying

amount of $18,851 9,945 29,556

§ 5,009,945 $ 4,299,556
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11. Tangible capital assets:

2009 2008
Accumulated Net book Net book
Cost amortization  value value

(Restated - note 20)

Municipa! lands, Inuvik $ 1,462,000 $ - § 1462000 $ 200,663
Gwich'in Wellness Camp 5,685,342 227,246 5,458,096
5,061,205
Condominium and improvements 336,757 38,816 287,941
310,356
Machinery and equipment 364,567 278,400 86,167
103,179
Furniture and fixtures 215,907 172,294 43,613
49,892
Vehicles 101,672 50,121 51,551
26,930
Computer hardware and software 624,203 556,116 68,087
79,891
Leasehold improvements 530,716 227,314 303,402
341,509
$9,321,164 $1,550,307 $7,770857 $ 6,173,625

In the prior year, the Council paid outstanding property tax arrears in the amount of $200,663 related to certain mu-
nicipal lands owned by Nihtat Gwich'in Council. In the current year, the Council obtained title to the municipal lands
from Nihtat Gwich'in Council for consideration equivalent to the amount paid by the Council relating to the out-
standing property tax arrears. These lands had an assessed value of $1,462,000 on the date of the transfer and the
difference of $1,261,337 has been recorded as a contribution in the current year.

The Council has received itle to various lands within the Gwich'in Settlement Region including 16,264 square kilo-
metres of land excluding mines and mineral rights; 6,065 square kilometres of land including mines and mineral
rights; and 93 square kilometres of land only for mines and mineral rights. No value has been assigned to these
lands for financial statement purposes.

In the prior year, the Council adopted PSAB Accounting Guideline 7 which provides transitional guidance on the
presentation of information related to tangible capital assets in its financial statements until January 1, 2009, when
PSAB Section 3150 "Tangible Capital Assets" is effective for local governments.

During 2008, the Council continued to work toward full compliance with the new requirements for accounting for tan-
gible capital assets. As of March 31, 2009, compilation of a listing of all tangible capital assets and their related val-
ues was underway and is expected to be completed by March 31, 2010 at which point any required transitional ad-
justments will be made. Management has not completed its assessment of any tangible capital asset classes.
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12. Commitments and guarantees:

The Council leases its premises under operating leases which expire in 2011 and certain other equipment under
operating leases expiring in years up to 2014. Under the current lease arrangements, the Council has the option to
renew the leases upon expiry. Minimum annual lease payments to the end of the lease terms are as follows:

2010 $ 320,054
2011 5,321
2012 5,427
2013 5,536
2014 462
$ 336,800

The Council has provided the following guarantees to non-arms length parties, which are outstanding at March 31,
2009:

@)

(b}

(e)

(d)

(e)

A joint and several guarantee of the indebtedness of Inuvik Capital Suites Zheh Gwizu' Limited Partnership, a
partnership interest of Zheh Gwizuh Limited Partnership, limited to a maximum of $7,500,000 (cutstanding in-
debtedness at December 31, 2008 - $6,796,571);

An unlimited guarantee of the indebtedness of Inuvik Commercial Properties Zheh Gwizu' Limited Partnership.,
a partnership interest of Zheh Gwizuh Limited Partnership (outstanding loan balances at December 31, 2008 -
$9,859,465);

An unlimited guarantee on a demand loan from Pacific & Western Bank of Canada provided to Gwich'in Devel-
opment Corporation (outstanding loan balance at December 31, 2008 -$3,791,667);

An unlimited guarantee of a demand loan from Pacific & Western Bank of Canada provided to Gwich'in Devel-
opment Corporation (outstanding loan balance at December 31, 2008 - $1,362,500),

A $15,000,000 guarantee of a demand loan from Pacific & Western Bank of Canada provided to Gwich'in De-
velopment Corporation (outstanding loan balance at December 31, 2008 - $1 0,000,000},
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12. Commitments and guarantees, continued:
(f) An unlimited guarantee of a loan from Pacific & Western Bank of Canada provided to Gwich'in ElfisDon LPF
Hamitton Ltd. (outstanding loan balance at December 31, 2008 - $45,922,352); and

(9) An unlimited guarantee of a loan from Pacific & Western Bank of Canada provided to Gwich'in EllisDon Health-
care Inc. (outstanding loan balance at December 31, 2008 - $49,702,753).

Subsequent to year end, the guarantee arrangements with Pacific & Western Bank of Canada related to hospital
construction projects being carried out by Gwich'in EllisDon Healthcare Inc. and Gwich'in EllisDon LPF Hamilton Ltd.
were released.

13. Investment income:

Investment incorne consists of the following:

2009 2008
(Restated —
note 20)
Interest and dividends 3 4,691,182 3 5,704,145
Realized gains (losses) on disposal of portfolio investments (731,439) 3,902,676
$ 3,959,743 $ 9,608,821

14. Loss on investments in subsidiaries and partnerships:

Loss on investments in subsidiaries and partnerships consists of the following:

2009 2008
(Restated —
note 20)
Gwich'in Development Corporation $ {(4,907,863) $ (1,864,979)
Zheh Gwizuh (G.P.) Limited {16,653) 2,952
Aboriginal Contractors Corporation (158,021) (147,433)
Mackenzie Valley Aboriginal Pipeline Limited Partnership - -
Gwich'in EllisDon Healthcare Inc. - -
Gwich'in EliisDon LPF Hamilton Ltd. - -
$ {5,082,537) $ (2,009,460)
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15. Expenditures by object:

2009 2008
{Restated -
note 20)
Salaries, wages and benefils 3 3,976,555 $ 4,040,479
Honoraria 213,420 202675
Travel 769,769 796,729
Office and administration 1,753,798 1,591,155
Rent and utilities 785,642 515,393
Professional fees 1,293,901 1,266,963
Community assistance and donations 183,666 364,654
Education and training 912,631 644,129
Bank charges and interest 7,750 10,859
Interest on operating loan 203,323 142,007
In-kind expenses - 42725
Annual assembly 75,086 83,726
Amortization of tangible capital assets 389,493 158,143
Loss on disposal of investments in subsidiaries and partnerships 18 -
10,565,052 9,859,737
Contributions to other organizations:
Renewable Resource Councils 581,905 292, 488
Designated Gwich'in Crganizations 1,402,300 4,960,703
Band Support Services 585,860 530,811
Other 41,733 (48,173)
2,611,798 5,735,829
Distributions to beneficiaries 1,035,270 1,899,574
Transfer to low-income participants 27,000 13,000
Total expenditures by object $ 14,239,120 $ 17,508,140
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16. Expenditures by function:

2009 2008
(Restated —
note 20)
General government:
Council operations 6,581,533 $ 8,051,006
Band support services 642,989 630,381
Designated Gwich'in Organizations - 617,757
Other programs 27,338 175,274
7,251,860 9,474,418
Self-government:
Core self-government 885,000 982,385
Land claim implementation:
Claim implementation 541,281 588,403
Enrclment 49,214 60,591
580,495 648,994
l.and administration 211,510 208,195
Mackenzie Valley Pipeline 690,085 516,411
Resource management:
Renewable Resource Councils 288,805 292,488
Other projects 87,000 59,300
375,805 351,788
Education, social and cultural:
Aboriginal Human Resource Development 043,827 936,268
ASEP - 631,642
Gwich'in Social and Cuiturai Institute 801,815 1,042,819
Education and Training 235,028 190,396
Employment Liaison 78,502 83,643
Gwich'in Wellness 685,036 195,742
Gathering Our Voices - 101,658
MGP Impact . 140,630
UCEP 298,231
Other programs 56,678 103,577
3,199,115 3,426,375
Distributions to beneficiaries 1,035,270 1,899,574
Total expenditures by function 14,239,120 $ 17,508,140
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17. Trust assets and liabilities:

The Gwich'in Tribal Council administers the following trusts on behalf of its beneficiaries. Transactions within the
trusts during the current year are summarized below.

Net
investment
Opening earnings and Closing
balance Distributions contributions balance
Gwich'in Harvesters Assistance Trust
for the year ended December 31, 2008 $ 5,156,458 3 (174339) $ (686,806) $ 4,295,223
Gwich'in Children's Trust for the year
ended December 31, 2008 1,705,622 (132,575) 351,975 1,925,022
$ 6862080 § (306,914) $ (334921) $ 6,220,245
2009 2008
Fair Fair
value value
Cash and cash eguivalents, earmnings
interest at 1.25% (2008-1.5% to 2.45%) $ 1,793,868 $ 2,268,261

Fixed term investments:
Pooled money market funds 118,492 114,306
Government and government-guaranteed
bonds, with interest rates of 1.6% to 4.5%
(2008 - 4.0 % to 5.7 %), maturing from

January 7, 2009 to May 19, 2010 2,274,782 2,108,248
Common stocks:

Canadian 1,423,923 2,050,895

International 411,273 478,765

1,835,196 2,529,660
Accrued interest and other receivables 337,879 19,148
Accounts payable (139.972) {175,543)
$ 6,220,245 $ 6,862,080

Investments classified as available for sale or held for trading are recorded at fair value. Investments classified as
held-to-maturity are recorded at amortized cost.
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18. Financial instruments:

Unless otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the Council is not exposed to significant credit risks arising
from its financial instruments. Given the significance of the Council’s ioan payable and investments, it has significant
exposure to market risks arising from changes in interest rates, market prices and currency changes. The Council
does not use derivative instruments to mitigate these risks.

Unless otherwise noted, all financial assets and liabilities are recorded at amounts which approximate their fair mar-

ket values. Fair value of investments is market value which represents the last bid price quoted for the investments.

The carrying value of long-term debt approximates its fair value as the terms and conditions of the arrangement are
comparable to current market terms and conditions.

Guarantees to related entities represent contractual commitments for which there is no market; accordingly, it is not
practicable to determine their fair vaiue.

19. Salaries, honoraria, travel and other remuneration:

Base salaries

and honoraria

Travel,
benefits and 2009
allowances Total

President (2) $ 130,000 $ 71658 § 201,658
Vice President 115,833 51,956 167,789
Coungcil members (20) 129,270 54,573 183,843
Chief Operating Officer (2) 229,167 48,175 277,342
Chief Financial Officer (2) 166,250 52,992 219,242

3 770,520 $§ 279354 $ 1,049,874
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20. Comparative figures:

The Accounting Standards Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants {"CICA") and the Public Sector
Accounting Board are jointly considering “Financial Reporting by Not-For-Profit Organization™ and have issued an
invitation to Comment with a response date of June 30, 2009. The CICA and the Public Sector Accounting Board
are considering, among other matters, the most appropriate accounting basis for not-for-profit organizations includ-
ing entities such as the Council. As a result, management of the Council concluded that it was necessary to assess
the nature of its operations and activities to ensure it is following the most appropriate basis for preparation of its fi-
nancial reporting.

Effective April 1, 2008, management has concluded that the Gwich'in Tribal Council meets the definition of an “other
government organization” as described in the CICA Public Sector Accounting Handbook. As a result, the financial
reporting of the Council has been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
for local government entities as described in the CICA Public Sector Accounting Handbook resuiting in certain
changes to measurement and presentation in the consolidated financial statements of the Council. These changes
have been accounted for on a retrospective basis and comparative figures have been restated to conform to the
newly adopted basis of presentation.

The Council has restated prior years' annual surplus to record additional earnings from Gwich'in Development Cor-
poration. The effect of this adjustment was to increase investments in subsidiaries and partnerships by $187,680, to
decrease loss on investments in subsidiaries and partnerships and increase annual surplus for the year ended
March 31, 2008 by $104,811, and to increase April 1, 2007 accumulated surplus by $82,869.

Certain other 2008 comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the financial presentation adopted in
the current year.
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20. Comparative figures:

The Accounting Standards Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (*CICA") and the Public Sector
Accounting Board are jointly considering “Financial Reporting by Not-For-Profit Organization” and have issued an
Invitation to Comment with a response date of June 30, 2009. The CICA and the Public Sector Accounting Board
are considering, among other matters, the most appropriate accounting basis for not-for-profit organizations includ-
ing entities such as the Council. As a result, management of the Council concluded that it was necessary to assess
the nature of its operations and activities to ensure it is following the most appropriate basis for preparation of its
financial reporting.

Effective April 1, 2008, management has concluded that the Gwich'in Tribal Council meets the definition of an “other
government organization” as described in the CICA Public Sector Accounting Handbook. As a result, the financial
reporting of the Council has been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
for local government entities as described in the CICA Public Sector Accounting Handbook resulting in certain
changes to measurement and presentation in the consolidated financial statements of the Council. These changes
have been accounted for on a retrospective basis and comparative figures have been restated to conform to the
newly adopted basis of presentation,

The Council has restated prior years' annual surplus to record additional earnings from Gwich'in Development Cor-
poration. The effect of this adjustment was to increase investments in subsidiaries and partnerships by $187,680, to
decrease loss on investments in subsidiaries and partnerships and increase annual surplus for the year ended
March 31, 2008 by $104,811, and to increase April 1, 2007 accumulated surplus by $82,869.

Certain other 2008 comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the financial presentation adopted in
the current year.
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